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SENATOR DEAN FLOREZ:  If you don’t know me, I’m Senator Dean Florez.  I’m the chairman of the Senate Committee on Governmental Organization.  This is a formal informational meeting of the Senate Governmental Organization Committee.  I want to thank Senator Soto for being with us here today.  And let me state from the outset that this will not be the last informational hearing that we have on the issue of the horse racing industry in California.  
I promised Senator Soto the next time we will be at the Fairplex, talking a little bit about offshore wagering, and I think that’s an issue I would very much like to delve into in the future and see what California can do about that as well.  So let me commit to Senator Soto that we will be at the Fairplex, which I believe is not a great distance from your home; is that correct?
SENATOR NELL SOTO:  It’s about three blocks from my home.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Three blocks from Senator Soto’s home.  And I would also at this time like to thank everyone in advance for their testimony.  I’d like to thank all of the witnesses for their testimony today, and more importantly, for your attendance.


I will let you all know that this is on the record.  All of our hearings in the G.O. Committee are on the record.  The purpose for that is, that we will have a transcript available as soon as the hearing is completed.  Give us a couple of weeks and that will be posted to our Senate site.  And the reason for that is, that we like to build on transcripts in this committee.  So hopefully, know that the comments you make today will be some sort of grounding point for additional hearings in the future, and will hopefully help us with legislation or, in many cases, sometimes no legislation, in terms of moving the issues forward.

The issue today, as you’ve seen from the agenda, is “Horse Racing in California—How will it survive into the future?”  And obviously with declining attendance and handle, there is talk, as well….I was just reading last week, or a week-and-a-half ago, in the L.A. Times about selling major racing facilities in California for real estate purposes.  This is a very, very important hearing not only to the chairman who is holding it today, but I know to the entire California Legislature and the governor’s office.


I believe at this time more than ever, it’s incumbent upon the industry to look deeply within itself, and I know you all have, to look for additional solutions to ensure the sport goes successfully into the future.  I can tell you that this committee is extremely interested in helping that along.  
As you probably know, in the 1990’s horse racing was the beneficiary of some $50 million in annual state license fee relief.  And the question I have, at least for a good portion of this hearing is, has that tax relief provided any help to the industry?  And, more importantly, I have some questions that we would like to delve into today, meaning, do we need less racing days, or less races per day?  And absent slot machines and these types of things, is this industry going to be able to move forward in California and compete?


I do want you to know that we want to examine all of these issues, and we want to talk about them frankly, honestly, and openly.  This is very, very important for, as we start to think about the future, at least in Sacramento, of how we might put something together, that many of you and I have talked about privately, it’s called a master plan for gaming.  What’s the future look like not only for Indian tribes in California, but for the racing industry; and also, the card clubs and others, how do we all do better together in California; and ultimately, how do we work together to make that happen?


This is a public hearing.  There is room for anyone who would like to speak at the end of this hearing on the agenda.  Please let the sergeant know if you would like to speak at this particular point.  


And I do want to start with our first panel, which is panel-1, the California Horse Racing Board.  But before that, I would like to ask Senator Soto if she has any comments.


SENATOR NELL SOTO:  Thank you for calling this hearing, Senator Florez.  I’m very happy to be here, especially since I grew up in a city that has had racing all of my life.  The Fairplex in Pomona—L.A. County Fair, is about 70 to 79-years-old, so it was born right along the same time when I was born.  So, I’ve had a really, really soft spot in my heart for horse racing, plus the fact that I grew up around horses.  So I’m very glad that you are having the hearing.

I think we have to start thinking about what is happening to horse racing.  Just by observation, I don’t think you need a third eye to see that the interest in horse racing is not as big as it used to be.  So I think that perhaps we can come up with something today that will help us to move it along.  And I know it’s a challenge, but whatever I can do, whatever this panel can do, or this committee can do to help move horse racing along, I think we ought to do it.  I think it’s one good way to bring in revenue to the cities that have it, and also, it’s a great sport.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you, Senator Soto.  And I do know that there are going to be some presentations.  If there are some from the panel, we’d very much like to hear your comments. 


And let me just add one thing to Senator Soto’s comment about growing up with horse racing.  For those of you who don’t know, I’m Senator Dean Florez, and it always says “(D) Shafter,” and people go “Where in the heck is Shafter, California?”  And I want you to know it’s somewhat near John Harris’, as I always tell folks, or somewhere near Los Angeles.  But John will know that I also pass by a racetrack every single day that I’ve lived in Shafter, and I’ve lived there my entire life, my mother and father have lived there their entire life, and it’s an empty racetrack.  It used to be O’Brien’s Stables.  They used to have harness racing when we were kids.  And I can tell you that it’s a grim reminder for me as I look at that track every single day, every single time I come home either from Sacramento or Bakersfield, that this is not where we want this industry to end.  We want the industry to be vibrant.  We want it to have good lush grass.  And I love the new Bermuda.  It looks great out here.  Congratulations out in the track.  But I think the most important part about this is, is that we want this industry to be successful.  And I can tell you in the days of term limits, and you start to see different chairs every single time of these committees, at least there’s one chair, hopefully, that will be around for at least six years.  So we have some time to work on some of these issues, and I think this is the place to start, is to get the grounding and to get the record, and to get the transcript correct.  

So with that, Mr. Harris, thank you for being here today.  And thank you for allowing me to come to your board meeting earlier today.  I think it was very much appreciated.  And why don’t we go ahead and start with John Harris.

JOHN HARRIS:  Thank you.  I think we’re all very appreciative of you having this hearing down here.  Yesterday was a great day for racing.  We had 42,000 people there.  It was almost too many people to accommodate as racing would like, but unfortunately, not very many days are like that.  That’s probably almost a record for year in California.  A lot of days the major tracks like, Hollywood Park and Santa Anita, maybe get 3 or 4,000 people which is a fraction of the number of people they could accommodate.  
So as we all know, racing has declined in fan popularity and it’s very disconcerting because we go back….racing is a part of California’s heritage back before the Gold Rush, and it’s a popular worldwide sport.  Almost every nation has got some version of racing.  But it seems lately, that we just haven’t done as well as we need to.  And the costs keep going up for owning horses and breeding horses and running racetracks.  It’s costing more, and yet the revenue side is going down, which is always a pretty fatal combination.  And I think a part of it is a competition with Indian gaming and all the other….there’s a lot of illegal gaming going on with sports betting, and a lot of different factors that are impacting our popularity.  We need to get it back.  Because racing is the one thing that is clearly legal to bet on and you’re really betting against everybody else there, so it’s really an intellectual challenge to see if you can be a better handicapper than all the people that you’re surrounded by.

One of the terms that came up today was, instead of calling it “betting the horses,” you call it a “pari-mutuel experience.”  So we need to get more people to have pari-mutuel experience, which is really what really the attraction is.  It’s a chance to play a game in a nice atmosphere with other people you enjoy being around.  It’s really very addictive to those of us who like it, but fortunately we don’t have enough of us.


As far as the survival, I don’t know if there’s silver bullets out there that we could say, Gee, if the Legislature just did this or that we’re going to be fine.  I think without that we would be in much worse shape than we are.  And the other thing we got was “Advanced Deposit Wagering” which went through a few years back.  That has helped.  It has cannibalized on-track which will possibly have some, but I don’t think it could be analyzed as dramatically as it has helped.  But we need to just turn the whole thing around.

As far as license fees, right now I think racing is paying about 
$50 million a year to the state for license fees, which is about half of what we were paying before.  If something was just going to go away, that would be a nice thing to go away, but those funds do support the payers, and politically it would be tricky.  But one thing to take a look at is that the whole purse, if you won every race in California you would only win about $150 or $160 million, so $50 million is a fairly significant part of that.  And the problem is, to win $160 million in total California horse segment is probably spending $250- to $300 million, so there’s a lot of attrition in the ranks of owners.


One thing that’s looked at is well, you can just raise take out.  You could say right now the take out, I think, on a win, place, and show wager is 
15 percent, and on some exotic wager is, I think, about 21 percent.  So if we could raise that, that’s good money that could go to the bottom line.  But I personally don’t think that’s a good idea because if something is not selling well you don’t raise the price.  I think we’ve got to be fair to the bettors.  If we’re not fair to returning the money to people that are wagering on horses, we’re going to lose the fans that we do have.


The one thing that, I think, Senator Florez suggested was, do we have too much racing, or how can we adjust?  It’s a tricky equation.  I think we could run slightly through our race and bring in more outside races that the public can bet on.  By importing races you’re generating purses and commissions, but you’re not running the race and you’re cutting back some of your expenses, and you’re able to use that extra purse money on the races you do run.  And also we need to expand our distribution network.  I guess some bill is going through to allow satellites to have additional satellites because, especially particularly in Los Angeles, it just takes so long to get around.  I always thought it would be a good idea to have any racetrack….it really shouldn’t be by miles, it would be, if you can’t get to a racetrack in 30 minutes and then you can have a satellite facility in some place like Van Nuys or Newport or some of those places like that.

As far as CHRB, I think our role is to ensure that we bring a game with the highest integrity, which we do by the licensing process, the participants, and also, we have very extensive medication testing, where horses use the Ken Maddy Lab at UC Davis which is a world renowned lab.  And I think that California is the premiere state in racing integrity as far as ensuring that no illegal medications are being used.


One thing we talked about a little bit this morning that will help racing is to get newer machines to actual bet the races.  There’s a lot of new technology emerging of hand-held devices and things like that, that can help racing be more convenient for fans, where you’re not sitting someplace and you’ve got to walk way over to someplace else to make a bet.  You know, bring the product right into the fans, and that’s going to be emerging.

So there’s no simple solutions.  But I’m very pleased that you’re looking at it, and I’m pleased that there is going to be some continuity in the G.O. Committee.  I think my fellow commissioner and executive director would like to say a word.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Mr. Shapiro.

RICHARD SHAPIRO:  Hi.  First of all, I’m Richard Shapiro.  I’m on the California Horse Racing Board.  And I very much appreciate and thank you for having this hearing.  I’ve been around racing all my life.  And, in fact, drove harness horses in Shafter, so I understand what you’re talking about.

Racing today, is going through difficult times, there’s no doubt about it.  And the problem is a multi-faceted problem, and it’s not just in California, it’s nationally.  And today, California is disadvantaged as a result of events that don’t happen in California.  Most notably, the conversion of racetracks to racinos.   

I recognize that the state has ponied up money and given subsidies to horse racing.  I believe, and I suspect, that they’ve been used to help sustain our racing network.  However, as racing has evolved over the last five or ten years, racing has changed.  And it has been changed by technology in large part, and then the advent of casino or slot machine gambling at racetracks.  


California is desperately disadvantaged today because we are not competitive with inferior states and inferior racing because they do have slot machines.  What’s happening is, those tracks in secondary locations with much worse climate than we enjoy here in the Golden State, are able to attract more horses, thus we have a racing population on-track, our field sizes were decreasing.  And as we broadcast our California signal across the country. we’re not able to put on the best betting broadcast because we have fewer entrants.  So it’s almost a domino effect of what’s occurring here.

In the short-term, I don’t know that the state can afford, or should afford, giving license fee relief.  You’ve already done your part.  But for the short-term, I think it’s vital that we get some form of slot machines or slot machine revenue to supplement racing to put it back on an even playing field with the rest of the country and what’s going on in the country.


But aside from that, and hopefully that can happen, and I certainly support it, our racetracks today, without that revenue, it’s difficult for them to make the capital investment that they need to make, to make the tracks technologically competitive with what we offer off-track.  Today with our Advanced Deposit Wagering and simulcast partners, we have sold our own program to our partners. In our effort to expand our reach, it’s become to where the bettor at home has an advantage to stay at home and not have to go to the racetrack, and consequently, the racetracks don’t have the revenue to put on a good enough show to lure us into the stands.  So we have a lot of compounding issues here.


I think it’s critical to get people back to the racetracks.  We can’t let racing become reduced to a studio sport, and in some of our lesser breeds, that’s what it’s already become.  In Sacramento, if you look at the harness meet up there, there aren’t thousands of people, there’s hundreds of people in the stands.  You can’t sustain a sport that way.


In terms of racing dates, I am of the philosophy that sometimes over exposure can hurt you, and sometimes less is more.  I think if you look at the three leading tracks in the country, of which we’re sitting at number one, Del Mar, Del Mar has a defined 8-week season.  It’s the place to be.  It’s the place to be seen.  It’s an event.


All too often our racetracks are forced, because we are disadvantaged economically.  California is more expensive to operate.  They have higher operating costs.  So they have to run every possible day they can so they can make their bottom lines make sense.  If we are able to get alternative revenue sources to them, we can then take a more intelligent look at our calendar, and we can not over race our horses, and we may be able to create seasons within metropolitan areas that will allow us to create events throughout the state.  
We have a wonderful fair network.  And if you go to the fairs, and recently all of us, we were able to go to the Pleasanton Fairgrounds, and what you saw in the stands there were families.  You saw grandparents with grandchildren and parents, and it was an event.  We have to try to create that atmosphere more in racing.  Racing needs to do a better job of marketing itself.  It needs to redefine what it’s offering.  
And today, when we were looking at new technology and new ways to make betting easier for our fans, we also do need to look at new forms of wagers.  We’ve had the same form of wagers for all these years.  Now we’ve gone out and we’ve relied on exotic wagers, which in the most part, are the most difficult to win, and therefore we have to come up with some bets that attract the novices—the easier bet, the mutuel fund bet type where you can choose part of the field, or an even/odd bet, and yet at the same time we probably need a lifestyle changing bet—something where somebody can go to the track and win a bet that is life altering.  
Racing needs to think out of the box.  But for our track partners to do that, they need to be put back on an even playing field with the rest of the country.  And unfortunately, it’s an issue that we fight out here.

We have the best racing in the country, there’s no doubt.  And when you see days like we saw yesterday at Del Mar, and you go to Santa Anita and you see Handicap Day, and you see American Oaks Day at Hollywood Park, and in northern California, our track operators are trying, but frankly, it’s going to come down to, we need your assistance.  And I think that all of us on the Racing Board, and everybody that is in horse racing, we’re all very dedicated in wanting to help.  And I think that more hearings like this will be very useful and productive.  

And I’d be glad to answer any questions you have.  And thank you for having us here.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  I think we’re going to hear from all of the panelists, and I have just a set of questions I’d like to hear from all of you on the record.  So why don’t we go to Ingrid.

INGRID FERMIN:  Thank you.  First of all, I want to say thank you also for inviting me.  And my remarks will be short and rather casual. 

One of the things that I think my role is and responsibility is, as the executive director for the regulatory agency, is to have the fans feel that they are coming to watch an event and that they are going to be betting on an even playing field.  

One of my major issues has been medication.  And fortunately the associations have been very helpful with the California Horse Racing Board in the past year to exercise and encourage the integrity within the industry where we have had some, as you know, gone kind of slowly because of the milk shaking and such with the ways the laws have been.  However, we’ve made some real strides, I think, by going to the Ken Maddy Lab.  That’s a huge step for us.  We’re trying very hard to encourage the fans that we are doing our very best to have an even playing field.  People don’t want to come out and bet on races if they don’t think that they have an even chance according their wisdom of who they pick and who’s going to win.  So this is terribly important.  
I think that the board needs to be looking more toward research and development in our medication in what we’re looking for.  We need to look at the other sports—cycling and baseball, and what have they experienced, and profit from that.
I’ve been very pleased, in the last six months, that where I think there were a lot of people that were kind of looking at us—look what’s going on in California, in a negative way, that I get a lot of phone calls from all over the country now with, what have you done with your testing; how are you doing things; that we have been shaking things up within our agency.  And so, hopefully, they’re looking to us as being proactive and, not looking at us.

And I think that I’ve been very pleased with working with other jurisdictions in Kentucky and New York.  So this unification of thinking and trying to move the whole sport forward nationally, I think is very, very important.

I think our role in the RCI (Racing Commissioners International) is important.  We’ve become more active there.  And hopefully people will become more aware of what is going on in California.

And I was very pleased, I’ve committed to the board that I would visit each of the fairs, and I’ve done that so far.  I’ve been to Stockton, and Pleasanton and Vallejo, and I’ll be going up to Santa Rosa next week.

And I’m very pleased in seeing what CARF has been doing, of making improvements and the various things that have been going on, as Mr. Shapiro mentioned, the family, and trying to promote the industry, and make it a wholesome day, that a family can spend together and still be outside and enjoying everything that their particular county has to offer.

So from the regulatory agency, we’re trying to move ahead and do the very best we can.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Gonzalez.
DICK GONZALEZ:  Dick Gonzalez.  I’m the board statistician and the simulcast coordinator.  I’ve been with the board for 15 years.  And I primarily do these two things, statistics, and the overseeing of the sites that are applied for out-of-state racing that send our signal to other states, as well as other countries.

When I got to the board we were just at a new era where interstate racing had first become a part of the program.  In 1990, interstate racing contributed $40 million.  The total handle was $2.8 billion.  Still, on-track racing contributed $1.8 billion and off-track was $1.034 billion.  The difference in a few years, in 1997, was that the total handle was $3.6 billion, the on-track handle had shrunk to $905 million.  That $905 million represented 25.2 percent of the handle.  The off-track contributed 41 percent, $1.455 billion, but the interstate, which we exported, was now at 34 percent.  In 2004, the on-track had shrunk to 17.7 percent, which represented $750 million.  The off-track contributed 34.9 percent, which was up in seven years from 25.2 percent, and the interstate contributed 1.645 percent, which was the largest portion of the overall handle, which was 38.8 percent, which represented $4.3 billion.
Now, we started the Advanced Deposit Wagering program which is now in its third year, it started in 2002, 2003, 2004, and now we’re in our fourth year—we’ve completed three years.  Advanced Deposit Wagering in 2004 contributed $403 million, which is 9.5 percent of the overall handle.

Overall, the attendance has shrunk along with the handle, I mean, without the population.  That one point….the attendance was approximately over 13 million.  Now it’s about 9 million, 9.5 million.  That’s in California.  That combination of shift, depending upon our export, has an impact on what is able to be retained by the tracks since the more that we slice the pie, which means that we have to allow for out-of-state and their take out, as well as the contract—our contracts are about 3 ½ percent of the handle, which is less than what we would get on-track.  Of course, the majority of what we get on-track is only 17.7 percent.  And so now, we’re in that position where the associations ask for relief from the license fees.
In 1990, the state of California received $148 million in license fees.  Today, the state of California receives $40 million, of which, the fairs are, by law, able to retain, or are given, $39 million.  And this goes to augment their personal programs.  This is the same $39 million that they also received in 1990, so that hasn’t changed.

Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  Okay, just some questions for the record so I can get your opinions on them.  Let’s start, if we could, for any of you, but let me, you mentioned some statistics on the interstate, which seems to be an issue the committee is going to be very interested in exploring going forward, but in terms of the ADW program, the Advanced Deposit Wagering, this has been a benefit, or has this been a hindrance?  Horse racing, just an honest opinion.
MR. GONZALEZ:  Well I think it’s a little early to say it’s been a benefit or a hindrance.  But the reality is that horse racing, just like any other industry, has to change not only with the times, but it has to be able to keep up with the technology that other states and other racing entities and other areas are applied.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that would go to Mr. Shapiro’s issue of increasing technology and getting our tracks to that level.  And how would that compare to New York, Illinois, Kentucky, Florida, Texas—where are we in terms of the technology issue?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Well, first, let me answer your first question which is, is ADW a benefit?  I probably take a contrarian view to some degree.  I think that we’re competing with ourselves.  We have ADW, and it certainly is wonderful to try and reach people that are out of our market areas.  So I’m a total fan and advocate of that.  But to the extent that we offer it within our own competitive marketing area, I think that we have made it too convenient to allow fans to stay at home and not go to the racetrack.  So there’s no differentiation in terms of the payoff somebody gets by staying home and going to the track, and yet going to the track costs them money.  So I tend to have a bit of an issue with that, that maybe there should be some disparity so that there’s an incentive for somebody to go to the racetrack to either get a higher payoff by going and therefore, I’ll make more money.  So I think that ADW is a good thing.  Technologically, it’s a necessary thing.  And at our racetracks, unfortunately these are facilities that are, on average, over 40 years old.  We need to get into the wireless age.  And today, somebody can take a laptop and sit in front of it and get more data than they can get if they go to the racetrack.  So for a serious gambler, we need to make our racetracks technologically advanced.  And that’s why we’re using outdated betting mechanisms and technology.  And therefore, I think we’re probably behind the curve when you look at what’s going on in New York, and Kentucky, and starting to spread across the country.

MR. HARRIS:  I think there are some catch up issues as far as the tracks have.  But I think ADW has been a good thing, because, in California the traffic and the time commitments of people, it’s one of the big problems that racing has had is a lack of TV.  I think way back in the fifties when TV first really got popular, racing was concerned at that point that they didn’t want people watching racing on TV—they wanted them to go to the track.  And that strategy didn’t really work very well because baseball, and football, and all these folks got on TV and racing didn’t and we were playing catch up, like TVG is on right now.  But it really brings it home.  It hasn’t worked as well as we were hoping, because now the average person has got 200 channels, there’s so much clutter out there it’s hard to sort it out.  But at least we can give the opportunity to bet to everybody in Shafter, or Coalinga, or wherever they are, there’s just no way that they’re going to necessarily get to Del Mar today, but they could be wagering on the races.  So I think we’ve got to have it….maybe tracks do more to draw them there, but I would hate to have a penalty on the ADW part of it.  Because also, people betting on ADW, it’s not just California, they might be betting in Kentucky, or any state where ADW wagering is legal.  They’re betting all over the country on California races.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go to the actual issue of the California Horse Racing Board.  The board obviously is very important.  I sat through a good portion of the meeting today.  But, do you have the regulatory authority to allow you to properly assist the industry?  Is there more?  Or, from your vantage point, board members, is that more or less what you’re actually able to accomplish?  Or is this something that is a national type of thing—we follow the trends….is the board able to pull some levers, additional levers now, or is this just where we’re going to be?

MR. HARRIS:  I think we’ve got a lot of latitude to the rule making process.  A lot of it gets cumbersome to really do, but I think if we decided we ought to have wireless capability at all tracks, that we could probably put a rule in place to do that.  I think we’ve got it, it’s just taking and figuring out what it is we really want to do.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And having the money to do it, obviously, right?

MR. SHAPIRO:  The only change, and I agree with Mr. Harris, the one thing, though, that I think we are a regulatory body, but as part of our regulatory powers we also should be working to enhance the business.  And I think that we probably should be more involved on the industry efforts to enhance the business, not just be a rule enforcement agency.

SENATOR SOTO:  Can I say something to that?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, go ahead, Senator Soto.

SENATOR SOTO:  Promotion—as a board, I think that it’s your responsibility to find ways to promote the advertising or whatever it is.  You have to come up with it.  I think, as a board you have that responsibility of making sure that people know about it.  There’s a win….I remember, when I was growing up, that there were some….there were always headlines about somebody winning….I remember the Seabiscuit days.  You know, everyday you picked up the paper and read something about it.  And I think we’re lacking that.  I think we’re lacking in promotion of people winning, how many people attend.  I think we just have to come up with some kind of promotional instruments to be able to get the people there, to make them want to be part of it.
MR. SHAPIRO:  Well just today we approved some license modifications to our application.  I think that we as a board have been working to go there.  I think in the past the board looked too much as a rule enforcement, and today we are pushing the racing associations, and everybody associated with racing, to tell us what is their marketing plan; what is your promotion plan?  And I think that we’re going to get down to the point where, you know, a racing license is a privilege.  And we will probably look to, if there’s a question, who’s doing the best job….you know, it’s competition.  Get people who are willing to promote the meets and reward them for their successes, and I intend to do that.

SENATOR SOTO:  Have there been any comparison to what the attendance at Santa Anita as against, let’s say, Inglewood, Hollywood Park, has there been any comparisons?  What do they do?  Does Inglewood get more people?  Does Santa Anita get more people?  And, what are they doing?
MR. SHAPIRO:  Well, there are differences, and those are dictated, of course, by the time of the year.  There’s different times of the year and so forth.  We did form a committee this past year, an ad hoc committee, called Bring Back the Fans.  And in that committee we brought everybody together.  And it was a good first step of bringing everybody together and trying to find a way of cross-marketing so that the racing associations can work together so that they can buy promotional materials, advertising dollars, and bring those things together.  So we do keep all those statistics and we review them after every race meet; and look at them; and we try to lend as much guidance as we can; and support, to get them to promote the meets and get people back to the tracks.

SENATOR SOTO:  If you don’t mind a suggestion—I think you ought to be working closer with the cities in which you operate.  Having sat on the city council for 12 years, I never once heard from the racing people for us to help promote the races, as a city council.  And I think that you might look into that and see how can you work with the local jurisdictions.  And it brings them money.  When you have $250,000 handle a year and by promoting something you could get more, it seems to me that it would be easy to work with that jurisdiction, whether it’s a city council or the county or whatever, to be able to promote it and find ways in which both factions can work together to promote, probably, more positive things about racing, or even whatever happens in the racing industry.  While it is in that jurisdiction, let’s take Santa Anita for example, it’s out there all year long.  It’s there a few weeks, and then it’s gone.  There has to be some kind of promotional, I think, effort with the city in which it’s located.  And Arcadia has to do a little bit more, Pomona has to do a little bit more, to promote that.  It’s only better for them, because they benefit from the handle.
MR. HARRIS:  That’s a good point.  The city the track is located in gets a little slice of the handle.  They get a third of the percentage, .33.  So they’re partners….and then also the sales tax revenue, and the jobs, and all that.  But I think racing probably hasn’t really capitalized on that relationship very well.

SENATOR SOTO:  Well I think they should.  I think somebody ought to bring it up and work with your local jurisdictions to do that.  
When I was on the city council we used to have meetings with the manager at the Fairplex to see what we could do to help, and perhaps that ought to be promoted a little bit more.

MS. FERMIN:  I think the industry in the past has been very fragmented.  And I believe that it’s come together more now than it has in a long, long time.  I do think that the CHRB, as a regulatory agency, we can also act as a facilitator, trying to get all of the people to work together.  And certainly, as we look at the avenue of what might be available to us either through the tribes, or whatever, it’s essential that we try to get along, because that’s the only way we’re going to all survive and do better.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me just get to the tribes, because I think it’s been mentioned in various ways.  I think it’s either slot machines, or revenues, and I think that’s really what I’m interested in, going forward.  And the reason for that is, obviously you know this, any way we cut it, the committee, we ratify what the governor negotiates. And so as the Legislature looks at its power in this equation, additional compacts being approved, I think this committee has the opportunity to, in essence, look at every compact and ask one fundamental question—is it adding to, if you will, the betterment of all the industries in the gaming world in California, or is this segmenting?  Is this compact, which is 20 years or forever, segmenting of a certain industry to the detriment to the other?  I can tell you from my perspective, and a good business perspective should be, we should try to figure out at the state, how we make everyone do a little better in this process.  And our only leverage obviously, to tax.  As you go to the Indian tribe you say, can you add on another five percent?  Or you look at yourself at the state and say, the governor is getting 25 percent, or the government is getting 25 percent, and can the state forego a percentage of our percent in a way to actually stabilize mature industries?  And whatever that mature industry may be, particularly the horse racing industry, or some of our other industries, that’s something that this committee, at least, I’m very, very interested in conversing and talking about.  And you might ask the question, how do you get to that discussion?  And part of it is, you maybe just don’t approve compacts until we have that discussion.  You absolutely say, we should discuss the totality of the gaming industry from a master plan point of view.  
And let me point to two of my predecessors—Senator Maddy from Fresno, and Senator Costa from Fresno.  And I think this is something they talked about quite a bit and all of a sudden the industries that were winning became the winners and everyone else lost.  And I think we’ve all had our turn at being winners, whether it be in the racing industry, the card clubs and now the Indian casinos.  

Our job, at least going forward at this point, is knowing that at any point in time an industry is going to decline, no matter how successful you are.  Wherever you are on the life cycle, there’s going to be a decline.  And once we get all of our industries to understand that, then we figure out that everybody does better, if you will, by working together rather than, if you will, at the betterment of the other—stretching a dollar, cutting a dollar in half, however you might want to view it.  Is that going to be ultimately something that the Racing Board is interested in conversing about?  And I want to make sure I’m real clear—I’m not saying, bring slots in here, or I’m saying, bring in slot revenue that the state would look at as an incentive—maybe your opinions on that.  And I think I’ve all heard it in various different ways, but that would really help the committee quite a bit.
MR. SHAPIRO:  Let me just say, that first of all, what we heard was, that racing brings in about $40 million in license fees to the state.  But the racing industry certainly contributes a lot more in different ways to the state.  We’re not just contributing $40 million.  Between sales tax, and horse sales in the industry, it is a lot bigger than that.  It’s certainly more important than that.

We as a racing board, at least in my experience, haven’t been involved in that discussion.  Since I’ve been on the board, what discussions are taking place with the tribes or even inside the Legislature or the Governor’s office, it’s never come before me.  I think it’s something where we should be asked; we should be involved in that discussion as a racing board.  Because we’re given the authority and the responsibility to oversee this industry, and assist it, and help it, but we’re not part of that discussion, so I find there’s a disconnect there.
And I do agree with you—somebody is on top, and it is a fluid situation.  I can’t tell you that I’d favor or know what way is best at this point.  But I agree with you, we do certainly have to co-exist, and there should be a dialogue of which we’re a part of.
SENATOR SOTO:  Well, why don’t you take the first step?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, I guess the question would be, do any of you think, before Mr. Harris comments, that an Indian tribe would have any sort of, if you will, problems with a state taking a five percent of what the state is getting, 25 percent?  Anyway you cut it, most of the industries are paying the state a percentage.  And if the state decides that this was of importance to find the ability to get the technologies, to build the distribution networks, to look at additional satellite facilities, whatever we’re going to do as a strategy long-term to compete, I mean it seems to me that would be a building block for the future rather than, if you will, just to maybe look at purses or other types of subsidies.  I’m just kind of wondering if that did come in, where would be the best use for it?  Where would it go?
MR. HARRIS:  The key part is, racing needs to be at the table when some of these compacts are talked about.  And traditionally, racing, neither the board, or the associations, or horse bidder, anybody really has ever been part of any of these compacts.  They just sort of happened out some place, and they were an up or down vote.  And I think that I would think that a lot of the Indian gaming people wouldn’t want anymore extra people around the table than necessary, so I don’t know if they would be that interested to have us part of the process.  But I think when the government, in total, looks at it they need to consider that there’s a lot of secondary impacts when you make these compacts.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Absolutely.  And the secondary impacts are simply whenever you enter into….I mean, we’re entering into compact negotiations because we have a new governor who decided that the 1999 compacts as they start to move forward, didn’t fit his particular vision of what the state should be partaking in.  I think the key for this committee, as we start to look at these new compacts, is simply when we approve additional compacts going forward, we’re also locking out the possibility for a master agreement, because that wasn’t part of the compact, and that wasn’t part of what the state agreed to.  So the goal is, is to try to figure out what point we draw a line in the sand and simply say, this has to be a master discussion, at least from the committee and policy point of view.  I see most of you nodding saying that’s kind of where we need to go.  Is that correct?
MR. SHAPIRO:  I certainly welcome that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. SHAPIRO:  I think that that would be a huge improvement.  And if we knew that we could work through you, or we all could get at the table, I think it would help us have additional leverage.  We certainly, as an industry, are disadvantaged economically because the tribes do more gaming than Las Vegas.  We’re disadvantaged.  We can’t keep up with them if it’s going to become an advertising program.  That’s how the vote is going to go.  But if we have some leverage to get ourselves at the table and look at this thing in its totality, I think that would help racing.  I think it’s a very good idea.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is there anything that you would like to add that I maybe did not ask?  I don’t want to ask a lot more questions of the Racing Board as well, but anyone else?  Thank you all.  Much appreciated.

SENATOR SOTO:  One thing I want to ask Mr. Shapiro, you mentioned exotic wagering.  What is that?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Exotic wagering, as you go back to the old days, we started with “win, place, and show.”  And the take out on “win, place, and show” is about 15 some odd percent.  Today, as we invented new wagers such as, “daily double” was first, and then came in “exacta,” and then “trifacta,” and now we have a “super facta”, we have “pick three,” “pick four,” “pick six,” and all those wagers.  Those wagers are more difficult to win.  It’s hard enough to pick one horse.  And while they provide greater payoffs, what they do is, they basically return….you know, the racetrack, you’re betting not against the house, you’re betting against all the other fans.  So we lose the churn of the money as the exotic wagers become a greater percentage of the wagering dollar and fewer people get the winnings.  So what we are doing with these exotic wagers are, while they’re larger payoffs, they’re going to fewer people.  And so we’ve gone to these exotic wagers, which are more popular today because of the larger payoff.  And so I’m a proponent that we have those wagers and even more exotic wagers, but at the same time, we need to create some novice wagers so that those that don’t come to the track very often have a chance at winning, and if it’s an even/odd bet, or some bet where, at least I get to win, or I get to keep playing.

MR. HARRIS:  Yeah, to make those to work you may need a lower takeout, or a very low takeout, where they just got two choices.
MR. SHAPIRO:  That’s right.  A higher takeout has proven historically not to help increase the handle, because you’re taking more money out of the pool; taking more money away from the guy whose got money in his pocket.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you all.  Okay, let’s have panel-2—The Racing Associations come on up.  Here we have Mr. Ron Charles, Jack Liebau, Craig Fravel, Rick, Peter and Chris.  Great.  Why don’t we start with Mr. Charles, if we could.  And just a threshold question, if you have a presentation, but are we, in any sense of the word I’ve been mentioning in this, are we moving forward; are we declining; are we in a good state?  Just your overall…

SENATOR SOTO:  Or are we on the right track?
RON CHARLES:  This committee?  Is that what you’re talking about?

SENATOR SOTO:  No.  The industry.

MR. CHARLES:  The industry.  Okay.  Well, that one’s a lot easier.  I can believe, more politically correct.

Yes, I think we have a serious problem.  First of all, let me thank you for coming today.  It’s really important.  And already there’s been some questions asked and some issues raised that really haven’t been brought up.  And I appreciate very much those type of questions, because they’re the kind of questions that get left behind and then all of a sudden they should be brought out in the forefront.  And it’s something that we do need to address.
I think our industry is very cognizant of what the major ills are.  I think this committee understands it.  We have a serious problem.  

In going back to one of your original comments regarding license fee relief, I think is analogous to basically compare it to where we are now with the subsidy of purses.  We had a license fee relief back seven or eight years ago of about $40 million, and it was based on the fact that we were paying twice as much as any other state.  So what it did was, it was able to make us competitive.  We’re back in that same position right now.  We are just no longer competitive with the states that are able to have additional forms of gaming.  And I think there’s a lot of ways of looking at this.  

When you start to look at the states that have gaming and you understand that they are, on a daily basis, rating our horse population and our inventory, we probably have the best horses in the nation racing here in California, the most valuable horses.  And the horse that might be worth $10- or $20,000 here, could be worth double that.  So they come in, and purchase our horses, and take them out of the state.  

We’re also at a disadvantage in the fact that we’re basically an island here.  We don’t have states like back east, where you can race in Pennsylvania, or Maryland, or Delaware.  We don’t have a state….the closest state that we have that we can obtain horses would be Kentucky.  And so we’re at such a disadvantage when it comes to trying to increase our inventory.

A perfect example, I think, would be Maryland.  Maryland is facing somewhat the same problem we are here in California.  They’ve been trying to get a slot initiative through.  They’ve been unsuccessful.  Last year they bred 1,300 horses.  Because Pennsylvania has been able to get slots, and slots are on their way, they were down to 280 horses being bred in Maryland.  The people are taking their brood mares and going to the states where there are slots.

And I think we can go about this in a lot of different ways, but at the end of the day, we need to be competitive.  And we really need to be able to compete against the states that not only have the slot subsidies, but the quality of horses.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  All right.  Thank you.  How does offshore betting affect the racing associations?

MR. CHARLES:  It depends, I guess, on which offshore betting it would be.  We have two different forms of offshore betting.  We have offshore bookmakers, and we have offshore rebate houses.  Probably the biggest threat to the continuation of the decline of handle are offshore bookmakers.  They’re growing rapidly.  They are making it more and more attractive for the horse player to sign up to play offshore.  They offer rebates.  And basically what they’re doing is, they’re taking the racing fan who would either come to the racetrack, go to a simulcasting facility, or bet through an ADW and allow him to bet offshore and give him a rebate, where our industry receives absolutely not one cent back.  And I would say right now, offshore bookmaking and betting exchanges are rapidly growing as fast as offshore bookmaking, are the two biggest threats.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Senator Soto.

SENATOR SOTO:  May I ask something?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.
SENATOR SOTO:  I think it was you who said “the quality of horses,” why can’t we get a better quality of horses if that’s part of the problem?

MR. CHARLES:  Why can’t we get a better quality of horses here to race in California?

SENATOR SOTO:  What do you mean by the quality of horses?

MR. CHARLES:  Okay, the quality of horses race primarily where the purses are the best and they have the most opportunity to run.  And we are providing less and less of both of those.  Our purses are becoming very stagnant.  The purses are not remaining competitive.  Plus, in California we have pretty much major league racing in southern California, and to some degree, a little minor racing in northern California, so the opportunities of racing the very best horses are declining, and there are many more opportunities to race the top horses around the country.

SENATOR SOTO:  Because I went to a, I guess it was horse rancher or a breeder, in Paso Robles.  Are you familiar with that?

MR. CHARLES:  Sure.

SENATOR SOTO:  With Sahadi.  And he was breeding some race horses, and told us all that went with it, but I didn’t hear him once say that his horses raced in California.  Maybe he just didn’t tell us that.
MR. CHARLES:  Some of his horses do race here, but he also sells horses that race out of state.  And he’s been a longtime breeder here.  He’s someone who’s been very good for the game.  But as the market changes and as we hold sales here in California, and he does sell his horses through our sales, we have people buying his horses that are going to leave the state to race in other jurisdictions.  
SENATOR SOTO:  How can we keep them here?

MR. CHARLES:  Raise our purses.  
SENATOR SOTO:  Raise the purses?

MR. CHARLES:  Raise the purses.  It’s pretty simple.
SENATOR SOTO:  Hmm.  Okay.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s go through the panel and I’m going to ask a question at the end.  Why don’t we go with Jack, and then we’ll talk to Ed and Craig.

JACK LIEBAU:  I think that one of the major problems that racing has today is that the show that we’re putting on is simply not as good as the show that we put on in the past.  And following up on the comments of Mr. Shapiro and Ron Charles, we are at a tremendous disadvantage.  Horses are much more mobile now than they used to be.  I mean, I know when I was growing up, horses in California stayed in California.  Today people think nothing of sending a horse to New Mexico, or Canada, or wherever to race.  And I think that in order to quantify this for you is that there are a number of states, as has been mentioned, that are subsidizing purses through either VLTs or slot machines, and I jotted them down and probably somebody will come up with some that I’ve left out.  But I mean, the first one was the province of Ontario in Canada, was probably one of the first racing jurisdictions.  And then you’ve got Delaware, you’ve got West Virginia, you’ve got Iowa, New Mexico, and Louisiana, and now VLTs, or slot machines, have been approved in Pennsylvania, Florida, and New York, and this is just going to make for more and more competition.

In California, probably the highest daily purses are at Del Mar at probably, I don’t know, $425,000 or something a day, Craig?  $500-?  And they’re estimating that Pennsylvania, you know, nobody ever thought of racing a horse in Pennsylvania.  They’re going to have average daily purses that are estimated to be $500,000.  Well, some horses are going to go to run there.

And maybe I can just give you some examples of what has happened as far as the supplementing of purses through gaming revenue.

In West Virginia, before the slots came into being, they had about 
$10 million that was distributed annually for purses.  It’s now somewhere around $70- to $75 million.  
In Delaware, it was like $10 million there too, and now it’s over $80 million.  

The average daily purses in West Virginia used to be $25, 000.  I mean, you’d be running for a purse of $2,500.  Now you’re running for almost $150,000 a day.  
And in Delaware, you were at about $54- and now you’re at $213,000 a day.  
And to give you some concrete examples, speaking for northern California, if we have a claiming race for, say, $5,000, we have increased the purses at the bottom as much as we can possibly do to keep our horses in northern California.  And our purse for a $5,000 race is around $9,000.

In Mountaineer Park in West Virginia, it’s $16,200.  Charlestown in West Virginia, is $18,000.  In Delaware, it’s $17,000.  Delta Downs, is $17,000.

What is happening is, that people are coming from Delta Downs to buy our $5,000 horses; sending them to these places to run for higher purses.  And you know what?  It’s tough to win a race in California, but sometimes it’s easy for that horse to win a race in West Virginia.  And that’s what’s happening.  I mean, it’s impacting the show that we’re putting on.  We have shorter fields because of the competition that we’re getting from these other states that are able to offer higher prizes because of revenue from alternative gaming.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.  Craig.

CRAIG FRAVEL:  Well, I can almost just say “amen” to what Jack said.  I happen to be, I think, one of the fortunate ones because I have the privilege of working here at Del Mar.  And as someone mentioned earlier, we do run a shorter season.  We’re a hundred yards from the Pacific Ocean.  And we’ve got a new facility, or relatively new, compared to all the rest, and we work very hard year-round to make sure that that seven weeks, when we….I was pleased by the way, to hear Mr. Shapiro say that we’re not going to have eight weeks, I didn’t realize I was going to get that.  Rick has graciously offered that up as part of the new sale of Hollywood Park.  But apparently we don’t have to argue about that next month at the racing dates meeting.

But in any case, we have a little different market place here when racing shows up.  We had virtually every television station for 100 miles here yesterday morning advertising the beginning of the Del Mar Meet.  It’s a very special occasion.  It’s a huge part of the vacation economy in northern San Diego County, in fact, for the county as a whole, and has substantial media support both from newspapers, television, and virtually every other form of media.  I’d like to claim all the credit for that; some of that goes way back to the people who worked here long before I did, but we work very hard to do that, and to take advantage of that.

The problem, as has been pointed out over and over again, is that we are only ultimately as good as what we put on the racetrack.  And I can have Friday night concerts, and family fun days, and Camp Del Mar, and youth oriented promotions, give-aways and do all those things until the cows come home with the hope of getting people in the gate, and we’ve been fortunate enough to do that.  
But ultimately you’re not really going to grow the sport or grow interest in the sport unless you can have the product on the racetrack.  And by that I think, Senator Soto, what we really mean is, good competitive races with recognizable horses that people will ultimately develop a passionate interest in.  And I think perhaps the greatest difference in the game from twenty years ago to today is it’s become more and more difficult for the fans to develop that passion in this sport because the product on the racetrack has declined.  And it’s an unfortunate statement, and it’s probably a little too simplistic to say, but it really is all about money.  
It is very expensive, and I’m sure Doug Burge will point this out to you, it’s very expensive to breed a horse; get him on the ground; raise them to the age where they’re capable of even being considered for the racetrack; and then when you put them in the training in California, the cost of housing for trainers, owners, help, you name it is substantially higher.  It gets higher and higher every year.  I mean, you guys have all read the housing costs in San Diego County go up 25 percent every year for the last five years.  And if you combine that kind of cost of living, workmen’s comp increases, which we’ve tried to do some subsidy work on, but somehow or the other, the industry is still paying for it.  It’s not like it’s gone away.  It continues to impact the product on the racetrack.  And unless we can be competitive on the purse side of the equation, we’re going to see continued struggles.  
And ultimately the success that you see reflected in a day like yesterday, and what we hope will be successful race meet here, I’m confident it will be, the patronage is still very high.  The positive side of that is, all the doomsayers who think that this sport doesn’t have an appeal to the public, I’m here to tell you they are completely wrong.  It’s a very interesting sport.  Horse racing is the only sport I’ll go to anymore, and I used to be a diehard sports fan.  I like to go to the racetrack now.  It’s a much more fun….I won’t take my kids to a football game because of the behavior in the stands, but I’d certainly bring them to a racetrack.  Anyone in the country, for that matter, strangely enough, even though it’s a gaming venue, it’s still much more uplifting experience for kids than anything I’ve seen in most other professional sports.  
So, I’m very positive from that standpoint, but we really do need to focus on the product on the racetrack.  And there’s things we can do, and we don’t need the Horse Racing Board or the Legislature to tell us how to improve our racing surfaces and so some of the other things that we need to do.  But we do need to improve the economics of the game to make a lot of those things possible.

And I for one think that given the right combination of circumstances, that we can move the needle and turn the sport around again, because I think the public interest is there.  It’s just some of these challenges are great.  And as Mr. Liebau pointed out, I couldn’t do it anymore effectively.  
To try and compete with states where the cost of housing is probably 25 percent what it is in California, and yet the revenue producing potential of an animal is 20 percent higher than it is here currently, is very difficult.  And what none of us really wants to face up to, to be honest with you, or even contemplate is, when New York has video lottery terminals and the possibility of paying $1 million a day in purses, that’s when all of these predictions that we have been talking about are really going to come home to roost.  That is a very, very dire circumstance.  And somehow or another we’ve got to find a way to compete with that.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Let’s hear from Hollywood Park.  Rick.

RICK BAEDEKER:  Thank you, Senator.  Well having listened to the others, there’s not a whole heck of a lot more to add.  But I would like to point out that the decline in racing really started a few decades ago and we used to have the best of all possible worlds in racing.  Back in the ’40’s and ’50’s and ’60’s we were a monopoly, and there wasn’t a lottery, and there wasn’t other forms of gaming in the state, and you had to drive to Nevada and so forth.  Really, back in those good old days there weren’t even other major leagues sports.  And so as Senator Soto said, in those days everything was front page and it’s different now.  We’ve got competition from everywhere.  Not only other gaming, and not only other sports, but the marketplace has shifted away from racing.  We are a slower more cerebral type of activity in what a lot of people think is a very romantic setting.  Look at yesterday at Del Mar—romance everywhere.  Instead, the customer now wants to sit in the mindless pursuit of the one-arm bandit and make a cool fortune in be dazzled at all times with the bells going off and all the lights and so forth, and we’re not that.  And we’ve tried at times to be that.  We’ve tried at Hollywood Park, we’ve tried to be the Lakers, and we’ve done all sorts of stuff in between races.  And guess what?  All that did was alienate those folks that are there for that quieter, more cerebral type of activity—where everybody has a common goal of solving the puzzle for the next race.

So as a result, we need to spend more money to attract the marketplace that used to come almost second naturedly to our places.  Now, we’ve got to spend more money, and in a business in decline we have less, not more.  And so while I fully appreciate that the highest priority is to increase the purses, not only to draw the best from around the country, but to keep what we’ve got.  
We also have other priorities.  We have to rebuild the facilities.  These need to be mini Disneylands to attract today’s consumer, kind of like Del Mar is.  Del Mar is a beautiful place, and you can walk just to the back of the floor and you can overlook the paddock and see all of the pageantry there.  Hollywood Park and Santa Anita weren’t built in that way, because they were built back in the thirties.  
In addition to that, we need to probably triple marketing budgets in California.  Shoot, we’re in the San Francisco, Los Angeles, and San Diego media markets, incredibly expensive.  We have to be out there raising the awareness among the consumer.  It’s not the customers in California who think poorly of us.  The research shows that they just don’t think of us.  We’re not in their top 20 things to do.  
So these are big issues, and we need lots of help.  And not to get too pessimistic, but we may not even hold our own, given all of the horses that may go elsewhere and so forth.  Even maintaining our purse levels is going to be very difficult.  If a major racetrack or two would close, sure you could move those dates elsewhere, but you’re losing those locations for off-track betting.  And I can tell you just at Hollywood Park, we generate $8 million annually for thoroughbred purses every year.  Well if you lost a couple of off-track betting locations the size of Hollywood Park, you can see what that would do to purses.  There would be a 10 percent cut in purses right there and we’d be going in the opposite direction.
All of which leads me like the rest, thank you for being here because there’s no spin on any of this.  This is extremely timely.  Our problems are real and the solution needs to come soon.  At least, some beginning of some solution.  So, on everybody working at Hollywood Park, and I don’t think anybody has mentioned yet, the number of 50,000.  That’s the number of folks working in the racing industry in California, so I’ll take the liberty of thanking you for them too.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Korby.

CHRIS KORBY:  Thank you, Senator Florez, Senator Soto.  I appreciate your interest in our industry.  It’s very timely, as Rick said.

You’ve asked some probing questions here this afternoon and I’m going to dispense with my short presentation here and just speak to a couple of points, if I might.  
I’d like to emphasize that fairs have the longest tradition of racing in the state and are committed to not only having racing survive for the future, but flourish in the future.  We think it’s an important part of fair activities; it’s an important connection to the agricultural roots at the fairs; and it’s an important revenue source for the fairs.  So for those reasons we think that racing is an important part of the fair’s future and we’re strongly committed to doing everything we can to help it survive and flourish in the future.

One thing that’s unique about the fairs in the racing industry is that the fairs have so many other attractions as part of what they do, and they draw so many people who are not fair racing fans into an attractive environment at which racing is conducted.  We take that role for us very seriously and have worked hard over the last few years to increase our educational outreach to new patrons, and to make our facility more friendly and attractive.  And we think that that’s bearing fruit, and we hope that that can play a role in the future success of racing in California.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  I think you’ve all hit, obviously, upon a common theme.  Let me get your opinions on the questions I asked the earlier panel about ADW and its effect on the associations.  Is cannibalization an issue?  Your thoughts on that—good thing/bad thing?

MR. LIEBAU:  Well I think there’s been some cannibalization and it can’t be helped.  I mean, the traffic problems whether they be in the San Francisco Bay Area, or in Los Angeles, I mean, some people are going to find it more convenient to just stay at home and wager, and some of those people probably wouldn’t have got out and battled the traffic to go to the track and so they’re still wagering.  And I do think that there has been some additional people that have been brought into the game.  I think that if there’s any area that Advanced Deposit Wagering helps us, it might be with the young people who are more inclined towards computers, in statistics, things like that.  Because one thing that racing can generate is, more statistics than probably any other sport and people can get involved in that way.  

So I think that we would be far worse off without Advanced Deposit Wagering, and I think that we’re probably better off because of it.

MR. BAEDECKER:  I agree.  I think we have to remember that account wagering in California is still a toddler—it’s just three-years-old.  I think we need to reserve judgment.  And there’s benefits beyond the wagering component.  Every day at Hollywood Park I benefit from two hours of live television on Fox Sports West 2, I think it is.  I couldn’t buy that.  It’s tremendous programming for us.  And then they provide the other shows like, prior to the American Oaks, which is our premiere race for three-year-old phillies on the grass, horses come in from around the world for it, and TVG did a terrific works program in anticipation of that day, showing the customers the workouts for the phillies that they didn’t know.  So lots of added value.

MR. CHARLES:  I think we all agree that ADW is important right now.  I think it hasn’t performed quite as well as what we thought, but I think they have a tremendous upside.  We haven’t touched on the international market, and I think that’s where ADW could conceivably extremely benefit our game.  And it’s something that’s coming, and I think it’s coming sooner rather than later.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So you all have hope for it.  It’s not the savior, but it’s additional.  Craig.

MR. FRAVEL:  I’m kind of in the “leave out camp” on this one, personally.  You know, it’s like anything else—people always say, Well is your advertising any good?  Is it accomplishing anything for you?  It’s very hard to measure precisely the results of a particular ad campaign or a marketing program.  But what you don’t know is, how bad off would you be if you hadn’t done it?  And we experienced declines in southern California off-track wagering year in and year out, really, since the first three years of the off-track wagering authorization.  And after that it started going down three to five to six percent per year in attendance.  And we’ve seen continued declines.  Probably not a big change in the curve from those earlier days, but if we hadn’t had the ability to replace that revenue source with ADW, I shutter to think where it might have been.  I’m a huge proponent of it.  
If somebody had come to me in 1990 when I first started working here at Del Mar and said, guess what, we’re going to give you a fulltime cable television network that’s dedicated to horse racing and showcasing your sport, I think people would have been falling all over themselves to try and get it done.  And it took us another 10 or 15 years to get there.  But, I’m a big fan of it.
Every year since we started ADW our attendance has been up.  And this year we’re going to have live programming on Saturdays, and we have cable distribution throughout San Diego County.  In my view, it only helps you if you do the right job marketing your product on-track.
MR. LIEBAU:  One sort of test market that’s somewhat isolated is Lexington, Kentucky that has recently had ADW wagering, and it has not impacted their on-track attendance at all, so they’re getting incrementals.  I wouldn’t say the jury is still out.  I think that it’s all on the plus side.
MR. BAEDEKER:  Well, when we look at the decline in attendance, which most of us, if not all, are experiencing, we have to recognize that parallel with the introduction of ADW has been the introduction of an $8 billion Indian gaming industry in this state.  It’s just a reality that I don’t think we can ignore.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Good point.  The other question I might ask you about is maybe what I asked the other panel—in terms of an industry wide marketing plan, it seemed that someone said that we’re kind of now all moving in the same direction and it hasn’t been that way in some years past.  Would you agree with that statement, or has it always been….is the industry doing things differently than it may have done 10 years ago, 20 years ago?

MR. LIEBAU:  Well, you know, I find that question interesting, because I don’t think any of us are proud.  As we see what other tracks are doing and the things that work, we’re copy cats.  So I do think the industry is probably more united on a lot of fronts today than it has been in the past.  But gee, if somebody is doing something right that’s working, I don’t think any of us are bashful about stepping up and doing it.  

SENATOR SOTO:  What can we do as legislators?

MR. LIEBAU:  I think that one of the problems, and I go back and I reiterate this is, you know, certainly the tracks can do better in marketing, and we try, and try, and try.  But I think our basic problem is the show that we put on.  I mean, we’ve got short fields and horses are leaving California for greener pastures.  That’s a problem.  We need to get higher purses so that we’ll have better racing, and better product, and better product to market.  


MR. CHARLES:  I also think one good example, is that three or four years ago on Fox we were hitting 1.3, 1.5, from a rating standpoint, and we’re off the charts now.  We need more television.  It gets back to the erosion of our inventory.  With more horses you get more owners.  With more owners you have the additional horses, racing fans, betting more money across the country, and it’s kind of a domino effect.  All of a sudden there’s an interest in horse racing, and horse racing then gets back on television.  It creates the interest.  And I think the whole sport benefits.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And would you all agree, just as a commentary, the Horse Racing Board itself, we heard their comments earlier, less regulatory, more marketing, promotional, is that the right direction?


MR. LIEBAU:  The president of the federation should address that question.


MR. FRAVEL:  I’ll answer that.  You know what?  By and large, I don’t want to mischaracterize that.  I think that the Racing Board has taken a proactive perspective on trying to work with us, not just with us, but with horsemen.  And we and our horsemen, I think across the board, all the racing associations, have worked very closely.  You know, we have our disagreements, that’s true of any business.  And the Racing Board has….you know, they haven’t sat up there and held hearings and said, you have to do this from a marketing standpoint.  They’ve come to us and said, let’s get together and try to facilitate improving the marketing of the sport.  And without exception, that has resulted in some positive changes.  And I wouldn’t call that a dramatic thrust in the direction of the Racing Board.  I think they’ve always taken a strong interest in that and have been, I would say, currently they’re probably more helpful than they are confrontational on this subject.  

And I think the other positive development in terms of the Racing Board, is that they have, in the last year or so, taken a much more proactive approach on medication issues, which have been a marketing black eye for us.  You know, you keep pushing and pushing and trying to get people to bet on your product and everybody thinks that horses are being over medicated or illegally medicated, and you’re fighting a losing battle on that front until the Racing Board gets out in front of that problem.  And I think, not to suck up or anything, but I think they really have made huge strides in the last six months even, to get on top of those problems.  And that’s something I personally welcome.

MR. BAEDEKER:  I agree with what Craig said.  And the board’s position in getting involved here has been one of support.  And I personally welcome the opportunity to lay out before the board, or anybody else that wants to see, what we’re doing from a marketing and promotion standpoint.  A lot of times it looks like we’re not doing much, when, as a matter of fact, that’s not the case.  And like Jack said earlier, one of the best things we’ve done over the years is steal good ideas of others.  So if a board, one of you all, anybody has an idea that will work, we’ll use it, certainly.

MR. FRAVEL:  I’d just like to jump back a little bit to your question right before that.  I think Rick partly answered it in one of his comments.  But, one of the challenges we have, candidly, and it goes back to the economics of the game, it is not actually all that hard to get a patron into one of these places for the first time.  That’s actually something that we’ve all done on any number of occasions.  We get huge numbers of first timers.  Probably 10 to 15 percent of our audience on a weekend is people who haven’t been here before.  The challenge, particularly in this day and age is presenting them with a good enough experience, and I don’t limit that to the racing product, but I’m talking about the video equipment, the display technologies, the amenities of the facilities.  Even ours, which is now 12-years-old, is a constant battle to keep it competitive with publicly subsidized stadium sports arenas of basketball teams playing.  
You know, every other sport, candidly, in this state is basically subsidized by government in some fashion or another.  Whether through municipal funding of sports facilities or otherwise, and horse racing actually is the only one where government has decided we want a big share of the pie, which that’s ancient history, but it’s an interesting juxtaposition between the two.  
And I guess when you say, what can we do, what we really need on top of the interest you guys have shown and we’re very appreciative of, is to work together to improve the economics of this game.  And there can be a hundred different ways of doing that.  To some degree we’d like some of the shackles taken off.  You know, if we want to do new products, new bets, and new distribution mechanisms, we’d like to be able to react like most businesses do more quickly without….to have to go to the Legislature every time you want to change something is, candidly, competing in a business world with one hand tied behind your back and one foot over your head.  You just can’t do it in a modern world.  And I know that’s a mantra we kind of talked about over the years.  Which is not to say we want jeopardize the integrity of the sport, but we do need to be able to move faster and adjust to customer preferences more easily.
MR. LIEBAU:  One thing too is, I mean, we aren’t just looking for help from the state, but the state can become our partner and I’ll just give you a stat.  In West Virginia before slot machines, the state got $200,000.  They’re now getting over $200 million.  And so I think maybe joining together we can both benefit.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  That’s the point.  Exactly.  

SENATOR SOTO:  How do you think we can do that?

MR. LIEBAU:  Well, I think that if we were able to compete with our Native Americans as far as VLTs or something like that, that we could generate a substantial amount of money for the state, and for the horsemen, and maybe for even the people that are now competing with us.  And that’s what’s happening in all these states.  I mean, certainly New York is going to solve some of their fiscal problems through VLTs at racetracks.  And I think that almost every state is, to some extent, besides wanting to help racing, is motivated by the fact that they can generate some revenue for themselves.
MR. BAEDEKER:  The goal would be to come up with a plan that obviously solves racing’s problems but does generate revenue for the state, but also doesn’t take away from Native American tribes what the people gave them.  We understand that.  We recognize that.  The people voted and gave them gaming.  VLTs on the other hand maybe, you know, they’re not slots; maybe it’s an alternative that would be acceptable; and so maybe there’s a solution.  That’s probably the only way it works.  Maybe there’s a solution that all parties can support in some type of partnership as opposed to competing and partnering.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  Okay.  

SENATOR SOTO:  Should we be the ones to propose that?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I think we’re the ones that have to force that discussion; correct?

MR. LIEBAU:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Anybody have any other comments you would like to add that I may not have asked?  Let me just ask one question in terms of fair racing in California, is that product to be improved on, or is this something that….are we moving in the right direction—fair racing?

MR. KORBY:  Well I think we all know that we can improve what we’re doing.  And I think that we’ve made strides in the right direction to keeping our field size up, be very aware of the details of how our racing programs are managed, recruiting horses to come race at the fairs (we’ve been successful in going to other jurisdictions), and inviting horsemen to come race their horses at the fairs.  I think those are things that we can point to as steps in the right direction.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And your thoughts, I think I know the answer, but privatizing fairs in California?

MR. KORBY:  Complicated question; has many local ramifications.  I think there is with many different fairs—there are over 80 fairs in California, each of which has its board of directors with a certain independence of action and perspective, so there are probably 80-plus different opinions to that question.  It’s one that’s being debated now in the fair industry and in the Legislature.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  Okay.  Gentlemen, thank you very much.  I appreciate it.  Great comments.  Let’s go to panel-3, Horsemen.  Thank you, gentlemen, for joining us.  Let’s start with Drew Cuoto, President, Thoroughbred Owners of California.

DREW CUOTO:  Good afternoon, Senators Florez and Soto.  And I too would like to thank the two of you, as well as staff, for taking the time and interest in our industry.  It’s very much appreciated and we hope we provide some useful information to you to help craft the future of this important industry.

I have the great privilege of representing the largest singe group of licensees in the state of California, and that’s the thoroughbred owners.  There are approximately 9,000 of them today—down from about 12,000 five years ago.  They, as a group, continue to invest, or are the largest investors, in racing in California of any of the groups you will meet with today.  They invest hundreds of millions of dollars a year in purchasing horses, in paying the bills related to those horses, and they compete for purses that are really just a fraction of the investment they make on an annual basis.  From a business perspective, as pure business perspective, the odds are great against breaking even, much less making a profit in any given year.  
And so you might ask, why are the numbers decreasing?  In addition to those economic factors, or part of those economic factors, are the fact that costs are so high in California.  Mr. Fravel eluded to a number of factors impacting costs, and I won’t reiterate those.  I think he gave you an accurate description.  And I think also eluded to by my colleagues at the racetracks are the fact that there are so many out-of-state opportunities that appear to be better to owners that have persuaded many of them to establish divisions outside the state, or to ship horses outside the state, or to sell horses to those with operations out of the state.

There are two factors I’d like to address briefly.  One is ADW, and one is the alternative forms of gaming we’ve been talking about. 

First with regard to ADW:  It has been a focus of G.O. hearings and of discussions, but I sometimes think the effort to look at ADW misses a larger issue in relation to the competition to tracks on-track.  And what I’m eluding to, while we look at ADW in California in the last three years, it has grown from about one percent of our total handle to about seven percent.  In that same time period, if we look at offshore legal sites we call the “rebators,” they’ve grown from just over one percent to almost 13 percent of our total out-of-state handle.  So their growth has been twice what the ADW has done.  And they have targeted the large transaction player—the big bettor—they’ve targeted them with rebates that by law, our industry in the state of California, are not able to pay.  
If you look at the economic model on which our out-of-state simulcasting is constructed, it is a horribly flawed model where we as the producer sell our product to essentially a retailer that does not contribute back to racing in other jurisdictions at a price below what we can sell our own product for to our own customers.  By that I mean, we have roughly taken out this blended whips and exotics of somewhere around 20 percent….let’s use that number for purpose of illustration….we sell our signal to the out-of-state rebaters for less than half of that price.  That leaves a margin for them of at least 10- to 14 percent that they rebate back to players and use for their own operations.  And so any player who’s playing any serious volume, or is betting out of state through a rebater today because they’re recovery, whether they win or lose, is going to be anywhere from 10- to 14 percent better than they would receive here in this state.  So it’s created a very difficult problem for us to deal with, and I think that has had….personally I think that’s had a bigger impact on on-track handle, particularly at the high margins, than the ADW.  And I think the ADW, as again Craig Fravel and my colleagues on the past panel pointed out, it has been a good tool to develop interest in racing in California.  The ADW companies that are licensed here treat us as partners and are usually sensitive to our concerns and try to work with us toward building again a better on-track attendance and handle.
With regard to the ADW companies, I think most people underestimate the impact ADW, in a positive way, but the impact California has had on overall ADW operations.  The California marketplace, meaning California bettors, account for roughly 60 percent of the total national handle bet through ADW.  Less than half of that is wagered on California product.  So this marketplace has been a huge exporter of dollars out of state in which we get our least recovery on those types of wagers.  So, again, we have some problems with our economic models that probably need to be addressed, and it may require some help from the Legislature.

Finally, the most important factor, and I apologize for, again, repeating what many have already said, the largest single factor, at least in my opinion, to impact California in a negative way, is the competition from out of state jurisdictions that supplement purses with alternative forms of gaming revenues.  They have enticed owners, trainers, horses, stables to move, as you’ve heard, out of state to compete for purses that are far better than we offer here.

And I believe it was Mr. Charles who said we are an island, and that is so true.  In California an owner who keeps a horse in southern California has really one opportunity to running on the southern California circuit and occasionally in northern California.  Because in the difference in quality the races aren’t quite the same—they don’t write them for a certain type of horse in the north.  So if you can’t get a race here, or you have a race in a category in which you have very stiff competition, you are forced to leave the state and rarely do they come back.  Where as horses who are based on the East Coast, if you draw a five-hour circle around any of the tracks back there, they usually have four to five to six opportunities to run at another racetrack, and it makes it difficult just on a geographic basis.  

But my final comment is, as I think you all know, we have, as an industry, been united in exploring what options we may or may not have in terms of partnerships with our Native American neighbors here in California.  And I, for one, am encouraged by their attitude and their willingness to be creative and explore if we can come to some arrangements. 
And we thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  I have questions at the end, but we’ll go ahead and go to Doug and then Ed.

DOUG BURGE:  I would also like to thank you, as well, for having this hearing this afternoon and allowing us all to participate and share our various views.  And I think, as Drew mentioned, you’re looking at a united industry here; you’re looking at a group that’s on the same page—that’s trying to do what’s best for racing.

The breeding industry in California has a long history.  It’s obviously a very important part of racing in the state.  It’s really where it all begins. 

Drew had mentioned the investment that the owners make annually in this game.  The same can be said for the breeders, you know, those that are investing in breeding stock, all the capital improvements, stud fees, etc., etc.  
California is the third largest foal producing state in the country, just behind Kentucky and Florida.  And actually up until about 10 years ago we were ahead of Florida.  So it’s been within the last 10 years that Florida’s annual foal crop has exceeded California’s, but not by much.

Also, California breds are very important to racing here.  We are an island.  We’ve mentioned that.  We’re very self-supportive.  Cal-breds make up over 50 percent of the field sizes north and south when you factor in the racing that we have, including the fairs.  
And the one thing that’s very unique about California, and we have 300-plus farms in the state, is that unlike Lexington, Kentucky, or Ocala, Florida, where you see centralized breeding industries, in California, we have farms in San Diego, we have them up at the Oregon border, they’re in many of your districts.  And from the CTBA’s standpoint, we obviously try to do everything that we can to keep the farms in business to, hopefully, keep our participation where it should be. 
But with that being said, we do continue to lose horses and farms.  In the current environment it’s difficult to justify really remaining as a horse farm in certain areas of the state.  
I went out in the month of May to look at about 600 yearlings for this select sale that we’re going to have in October and some of the farms that we’ve been going to over the years, particularly in the Riverside areas and areas where you’re seeing more of a population growth, we’re losing them just about every day.  I think we’ve lost, over the last two to three months, six farms have announced that they would be closing, and most of it, obviously, is for development purposes.  Some are interested in relocating, which is obviously the positive side, but at the same time there are some that are either just getting out of the business or even looking at other states where the expenses are less and the return in certain situations in regards to the purse money that’s available, the incentive award revenues, the breeder awards, the stallion awards that are available, are as competitive as they are in California.

So from our standpoint, we’re very dependent on the demand for the product that we produce.  As purses remain stagnant, as expenses continue to escalate, that demand is decreasing.  Most of that demand is going out of state.  And really just to echo what’s been said here this afternoon, the economics need to improve or this trend will continue.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  Ed.
ED HALPERN:  I too would like to thank you, Senators, on behalf of myself and 600 trainers that I represent in California.  

A few years ago, not even ten years ago, we were up over 800 trainers in California, so we already lost about 25 percent.  And the message really comes down to pure and simple economics 101; it’s the income and expense equation.  The cost of training horses and owning horses in California is not justified by the return that’s available.  
And to be just a little bit more specific about that, in southern California it typically costs about $85 a day to keep a race horse, and that’s the cost.  That’s actual money going out for grooms, feed, bedding, other items, and you add on top of that veterinarian, shoeing, and tack and you’re probably adding another $7- $15,000 a year.  So you’re looking at somewhere around $40- to $45,000 a year to keep a horse in California.  In order to support that you would have to make 120 percent of that in purses, because right out of any major purse winnings, 10 percent goes to the jockey and 10 percent goes to the trainer.  So you’ve got to make over $50,000 with a horse in California, just to break even.  Very few horses make over $50,000 a year.  And that does not include the investment in the horse itself, which is many times that.

When you look at that in comparison to other states, you can go down to New Mexico, where purses are now larger than ours, and you can train a horse for $35 a day.  So what’s the incentive to stay?  You can go to Mountaineer Park in West Virginia, and the same problem—the cost of training there is miniscule compared to what it costs here—the cost of feed, the cost of medical care, the cost of housing are all a minor proportion of what we pay here.  That has led to a decline in the number of owners and the number of horses that they own.  It’s not just that much fun to own a horse.  It’s not worth $50,000 a year to most people.  If the cruise were $20,000, somebody might take it, but if the cruise is $50,000, they’re not going to, and that’s the way most owners see the business.

Not very many years ago you saw one owner/one horse was very typical.  Now when you see people buy a horse, it’s five owners/one horse.  Therefore, the shrinkage in the number of horses we have.

And to make the picture even a little more depressing, we ain’t seen nothing yet.  Wait until Kentucky and New York and other states come along with slots, and I think at that point we will again see a major outflow of trainers and horses from California.  And that’s, as we know, not too far off.
So, in short, we only get more horses and more owners when we change the economic model.  And that means higher purses or more income to offset the expenses, because reducing the expenses is almost impossible, and/or, a new way that we look at the way we distribute the purse money that we have so that we pay people basically to run their horses and thereby reduce the overall expense.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  More money is better though, right?

MR. HALPERN:  More money is better.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me just ask you all a question.  Maybe Drew and others that I’ve asked throughout this hearing, and I think the common theme has been the revenue side of this, obviously, that all comes into play with technology and some of the upgrades of the tracks and things that are a necessity to keep California competitive, but the revenue, just your opinion.  Does this mean that we want the video terminals, do we want the slots at the track?  Or, does it mean that you’re as interested in the revenue as the actual machine?  Does it bring a different crowd?  And this is really from horsemen.  I didn’t ask these questions to the other guys.  I kind of think we get a lot of….but you, you’re the horsemen, you’re the folks that I think might have an idea, a different thought.  What do you think?

MR. CUOTO:  Well, reluctant to jeopardize the goodwill that we have among the industry, it’s obvious that we are not invested in the facilities as our track partners are, but they are our partners.  We understand their economic needs.  Obviously if that was not a consideration, the revenue is extremely important to keeping, at least, the owners, trainers and breeders making the investment they need to into the industry.  And I think if we were all brutally honest, I mean, we have to recognize that we have nonprofit racetracks and we have for-profit and publicly traded companies whose corporate objectives aren’t always aligned among one another.  There are pressures on publicly traded companies that don’t exist on the nonprofits that shapes some of our industry’s policies toward this larger question.  But we as a partnership have to balance all of those interests.  The nonprofits, the horsemen, and the for-profit, and publicly traded companies, we have to balance those interests and hopefully maintain a good relationship for us and for the industry.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  That’s fair.  And just to follow up, I think, obviously, when I received, at least, the press release from Hollywood Park announcing its sale to Bay Meadows, what really caught the attention not just of myself, but I’m sure of every committee member, and I should say, particularly Senator Vincent, who sits right behind me on the Senate Floor, is that that was really a shot across the bow, isn’t the right term, I think it was a real wakeup call for many in the Legislature.  And not to say that people read the sports page first in the lounge, but that’s probably the best place to put it.  And as everyone kind of peruses the L.A. Times, whether you’re on the G.O. Committee or not, I think just about everyone came and said, What are we doing about this?  And I think that was a very important moment for the many folks I know, and Senator Soto knows, on the Floor because it was kind of a unifying moment between Republicans and Democrats both, that this is kind of the year, as we start to think about all of the compacts that will be proceeding, the only four or five that we’ve approved with many more to go, that we have to have actually have a strategy for what comes next.  And I think that particular press release and those particular statements made by Hollywood Park, that without horseracing we may well see a development, we may well see things that one couldn’t conceive of.  I mean, those are the kind of things that I think are unfortunately, they’re not kind things you read.  You look at it and you say Where’s the Legislature been?  Somewhat absent.  A few participate but we really can do more.  And I guess the question then for all of you is, really what can we do more?  What could the Legislature do?  And I know the revenue side is very clear, but beyond that, is there anything else that we could be doing, other than staying out of your way?  Which is always probably a better option in many cases.

MR. CUOTO:  In speaking to our representatives in Sacramento, I think as an industry we’ve been careful this year to send a message that we are not looking directly to the state to bail us out.  Despite the inequities, as Craig pointed out with some of the other professional sports, support that they receive from municipalities and from the state, we have not been looking to the state to help us in that way.  But, I think you have hit upon something, at least with regard to the compacts, that due consideration needs to be given to the impact these new compacts have on existing industries, and what possible mitigation can be structured into them so that our industry and others are not essentially become anachronistic an no longer viable.  That’s probably, at this moment, absent the more specific deal with the tribes, the best we can ask.

MR. BURGE:  Also, it does get back to the economic issue, but the state can help, I suppose, in other economic ways, and certainly different kinds of tax relief, the issue always of the sales tax.  In the horse business we have sales that are repeated over and over and over in the claiming game and each time it’s an 8 ½ percent tax, or an 8 ¼ percent tax on that.  Those kind of incentives are tax incentives for people who are putting this enormous investment into horses.  There are certain tax incentives that could be put back in that were taken out a number of years ago that would make it more attractive for these people to get back in to, or stay, in the horse business.
Just to expand on what Ed said, we were fortunate a few years ago to get some legislation through that allowed for a not a total, but partial tax emption with breeding stock, which was very important whether you’re buying a mare or syndicating a stallion.  It was very important.  And we were able to, I think, somewhat increase from a quality standpoint, our stallion population and breeding stock in California because of some of those benefits.  If there was a way to expand that down to racing stock as well.  I know in Florida for instance, they allow, if you buy a yearling, or a two-year-old, or basically a horse in training from the actual producer, there is an exemption on the sales tax, which makes it a little bit more lucrative, I think, for Florida.  Well it obviously puts the sales companies, at least in Florida, at an advantage over, say, the sales companies in California, and it obviously helps the breeders and the producers of the horses there.

MR. CUOTO:  On leaving, I’d like to leave with both Senator Florez and Senator Soto just a visual reference to help you understand, sort of, the allocation of revenues within our industry.  It appeared in our publication at the beginning of the year, and I think it’s a very useful tool for you just as a reference.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Please.  Thank you very much.  Gentlemen, thank you very much.  Okay, let’s go to panel-4, Jockeys and Pari-Mutuel Clerks, Barry Broad and Richard Castro.  Thank you for joining us.

BARRY BROAD:  Mr. Chairman and members, Barry Broad on behalf of the Jockeys Guild.  I also represent the Teamsters and Jockeys who have jurisdictions at the tracks so my comments are reflective of everybody’s point of view.  Obviously you’ve heard today there’s been a lot of teeth gnashing about the future of horse racing for many years.  
The issues that the industry faces are not new.  It was hoped that when the state did the $50 million in license fee relief that that would be the impetus towards a change, but the trends have continued away from live attendance at the track.  The handle has been supplanted obviously by off-track betting and now Advanced Deposit Wagering, but none of it has created a kind of resurrection of the industry in its greatest glory as we’ve heard about in the 1940s, ’50s , ’60s and even 1970s.  It seems to me that obviously there are some fundamental issues.
If much of the income is derived from conduct or betting that occurs off-track in one way or another, than where the track is becomes less relevant.  And in a state like California where real estate values are extremely high and these tracks are pieces of property that have been here for many, many decades, they are worth a lot of money as real estate, and the same kind of issues don’t necessarily occur in other parts of the country.  And so there are pressures that are building up, and I think that that’s certainly underlies the discussion about Hollywood Park.  How long can it continue as a racing venue when it maybe an extremely valuable piece of real estate?

From the point of view of the jockeys, I think it shouldn’t be all doom and gloom.  I mean, look, people watch cars go around tracks, and NASCAR has become very successful in the last several decades, I don’t know if it’s a resurrection, but it’s certainly a tremendous increase in the viability of that sport.  And there is nothing fundamentally different about watching a car go around a track than watching a horse go around a track except, I think in a lot of people’s opinion, horseracing is a much more beautiful sport to watch than watching cars go around the track.  
There is a fundamental problem I think which has always existed in the horseracing industry which is different from other sports in that there are so many separate business entities and interests involved.  You know, horse owners, tracks, breeders, various vendors, there’s all these different interests.  And despite what people have said, this industry unlike other industries has never figured out how to collectivize its sense of the industry.  It continues to be driven by factional issues, and competition and sort of in-fighting, and you just have to go to most any horseracing board meeting to see it.  And it has to do with the ways things are structured.  And other industries, other sports, take, for example, football, many decades ago the owners of football teams got together and realized that they needed to find a way to get the whole sport across the United States.  And I think other sports understand, or at least, I think horseracing understands, but has never figured out how to collectivize the risks and profits in such a way to make it work out for everybody.  
The other issue, and I think the jockeys view it in an interesting way about this, is that in NASCAR for example, the car is not the star of the show as much as the driver of the car is the star of the show.  And in a society in which our connection to rural life, and horseracing arose in American culture when we were a predominantly rural society, and even in the 1930s a lot of people who were horseracing fans, and 1940s and 1950s, had a first person relationship with horses and animals.  They could identify with this sport in a different way than our highly urbanized culture can.  And I think that’s part of the problem.  When one of the earlier speakers said, maybe it was Rick Baedeker who said, what we find is people just don’t think about horseracing.  I find that in my conversations—Oh, yeah.  Boy, that’s something I ought to do, is go to the track someday.  I just never really thought about it.  And I think it’s in part because we’re disconnected as a culture from the original rural basis of horseracing and understanding horses and people being near horses and loving horses.  They don’t know anything about horses.  They know a lot more about cars.  Maybe that explains the success of NASCAR.  They can kind of identify with owning a car and how you drive a car.  They can’t identify with riding a horse.  And so, at least from the perspective of the jockeys, there’s some evidence, in Japan especially, that if the jockeys are promoted more as the stars of the sport rather than the horse, that there’s people identifying more with people.  And you can see, at least in the really high profile racing, like the Kentucky Derby, that all that kind of promotion and excitement occurs.  But after the Kentucky Derby, for the larger culture, it’s sort of dead.  And so what we really need to do is figure out how to harness that energy collectively, and to make the sport something that works across the United States in not such a divisive or divided economic picture in which everybody is in it for themselves and their own individual profit. 
The perspective of the jockeys is that this is a dangerous sport.  There’s probably 1,200 jockeys or so that run more than 50 races a year in the country.  Two to four of them per year become quadriplegics.  It’s a high risk venture.  Many, except for the most winning jockeys, many jockeys are earning $30-, $40-, $50,000 a year and then paying various commissions and fees to agents and so forth.  They are not earning very much money.  It’s not a sport where you’re guaranteed a minimum middle-class income.  Some people do great.  Most don’t.  They don’t have retirement and they have a limited number of years that they can do the sport.  So certainly from their interests, they would like to see the jockey occupation be one in which they’re guaranteed some secure basis of an income.  That they feel that when they leave the sport….these are people that are not generally with college educations, many of them are recent immigrants to this country.  They are not likely to have big employment opportunities when the leave racing.  They’re generally don’t have college educations.  They begin racing in high school and so forth.  

So one thing we’d like to see is some greater security for them.  I think this is a natural thing, which probably given that there’s 1,200 of them across the country, it’s not a major economic question for the industry, that’s a multi-million dollar industry, but it’s something that would help them.

Obviously we need to do the things we’ve talked about, about raising purses.  I know that the industry is very interested in slot machine revenue and getting slot machines.  That would be nice.  I don’t know how politically viable it is in this state.  The discussions that I understand are going on with the tribes.  It’s good that that’s going on, but it probably would have been helpful if there weren’t so many punches thrown in their direction before the discussions started, and that might have engendered better relationship.  
It also seems to me that in a larger sense the industry really does have to really rethink itself.  Can horseracing operate as a freestanding sport, or need it be part of a larger gaming, or a larger family, kind of, holiday venue?  Should it be tied to a larger kind of casino situation in which you have one gaming opportunity in the morning and then horseracing in the afternoon?  I think these things have to be fully….the industry has to totally rethink itself and its structure, and that’s not easy to do when despite all the problems on any given day that the bets are being made and the money is flowing.  But I do think it has to happen, or the kind of trends that we’ve seen over the last 20 years or so, are just going to continue.
So what we would urge the committee to do is, throw itself into this discussion of how horseracing can really survive and survive in California.  It’s an important industry; it’s a beautiful industry; and it would be a shame for it to simply, kind of, waste away.  And thank you for the opportunity to speak today.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Barry.  Although I didn’t know we were going to tie NASCAR into horseracing.  That’s a surprise.

MR. BROAD:  Well, I think a lot of people have looked at NASCAR and go, Why them and why not us?  And I’ve heard that a lot in horseracing.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  Go ahead.  Richard, thank you for joining us.

RICHARD CASTRO:  Thank you, Chairman Florez, Senator Soto, distinguished staff.  My name is Richard Castro.  I represent Pari-Mutuel clerks.  I will touch on what I think you can do.  

My overriding theme is going to be the diminishing or lack of revenue to the sport of racing.  I feel that we do need larger fields.  I need fuller fields to attract better wagering.  
Jack Liebau really said it best when he talked about purses.  We also need better tax breaks for the breeders of the California racing stock.  We need tax breaks for the racing farms; for the owners who race their horses here in California.  
Workmen’s Comp needs to be more affordable.  It would be nice if CalPERS were opened up to everyone who has a California Horse Racing Board license.  That’s something we really would like to see happen.

We just settled a contract.  The employer in our last contract made a contribution of $467.50 per month, per covered employee.  At the end of our four-year agreement, their contributions will be $900 per month, per covered employee.  California needs to do a much better job fixing the healthcare problems where it can.
We need to find a way to triple the purses.  And again, Jack Liebau said that best.  We support Indian tribal casino money supplementing purses.  We would like to see legal sports wagering taken at California racetracks.  Some of this commission money would go into the purses.  

We want to thank you sincerely.  It’s not going to sound it, but we want to thank you for passing AB 471—Advanced Deposit Wagering.  

Senator Soto, I don’t know if you remember, but Ron Lacardo appeared before a G.O. Committee meeting and you asked the question, Why would a labor organization be supporting Advanced Deposit Wagering?  And his answer was, that we would be getting jobs out of it.  We felt that it was needed.  It was something that the industry wanted.  We wanted to support the industry.  Well, we supported the industry.  We backed the bill.  You legislative people passed the bill.  When the next panel comes up, ask them what happened to the hubs that were supposed to be in California.  Ask them how many telephone operator jobs, live California telephone operator jobs, ADW brought to California.  There are none.  We got nothing out of this.  However, we still supported the legislation.  We still backed the legislation.  What we would like to add is that people who use, we would like to have you read this at the commissions of ADW.  And I think that when they come to the table, they will tell you that they couldn’t afford live operators. 
We would like to see you put in a clause to add 50 cents for everybody that uses the automated system.  This money would go into a trust for displaced workers, healthcare.  There would be a need for it.

Going back to sports wagering—it’s a revenue—that is what the Racing Association needs.  If you look at the ADW that happens there, the person in California makes a bet.  What he’s really doing is processing betting information that’s going to a hub in Oregon.  Why can’t California, through your help, figure out a way where if I want to make a bet on a football game, I would go to a California racetrack?  I would place my bet at a California racetrack.  I would be processing the information to a licensed Nevada sports book and the bet would be placed in Nevada.  We see that as an additional source of revenue for the state of California.  We feel that the racetracks need to be the controlling entity in this.  We feel that it would be a windfall also to the state.  We would like to see the Legislature explore that.

These are issues that came up a little earlier:  We support less races, not less racing days.  And again, we would like to see Indian tribal casino money directed into purses.  We don’t feel that tribal casinos should be approved that don’t offer satellite wagering on horse races.  We don’t think that you should approve compacts like what was proposed for the San Pablo Casino in cities.  
I also want to thank you for having us.  I want to thank you for allowing me to speak.  And I’m prepared to try and answer your questions.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Senator Soto, do you have any questions?


SENATOR SOTO:  Not right now.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gentlemen, thank you.  Good testimony.  Very direct.  And thank you for your written testimony, as well.


Let’s get our Advanced Deposit Wagering companies.  Okay.  You know the two questions—where are the hubs, and where are the jobs, I guess it was asked the last time.  So what’s the…


JEFF TRUE:  Well that’s an old refrain from Mr. Castro.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why don’t you go ahead and start, but I do want to know if you can answer, just so we can figure that one out.


MR. TRUE:  My name is Jeff True.  I represent Youbet.com.  Just a couple of comments.  I know we’re closing in our third hour of hearings, and we went through three hours with CHRB, so I’ll try to be brief.


Youbet.com is the leading ADW company in the U.S.  We’re a publicly traded company on Nasdaq.  
There’s been some talk this morning about the pressures of being a public company, as opposed to a private company.  And one of the salient comments I think actually came from Drew Cuoto.  He said, We’ve got some economic model problems that we need to address in ADW.  And I’m not going to get into that model, but suffice it to say that we think over the long-term, ADW is going to be a much bigger driver of horse racing in California and the U.S. and certainly, internationally, globally than it is now, once we get some of those economic model problems worked out.

The size of horse racing as a sport in and of itself is not big enough to support this fragmented sort of ADW system we see now.  There needs to be consolidation, and Youbet as a company is seeking to work on some of that consolidation through our business channels.  But just a for instance, we think through some consolidation we could save the industry upwards of $30- or 
$40 million annually just by eliminating some of the duplication of services and operations that we currently go through.

I think the theme today was what’s ahead for horse racing.  Youbet’s posture is really focused on the customer.  We don’t believe there’s a problem with the game.  The game in and of itself is solid and sound.  Jack Liebau called it the show.  We certainly believe the show has to be better and we’ve heard all day long how the purses need to improve so the show itself is better, but the game is pretty solid.  
And given that, Youbet’s posture and focus on the customer really drives our business.  We’re looking at how to bring the game to the customer and new and exciting ways, in more interactive ways, in more enjoyable ways, if you will.  It’s not the same game when you go to the racetrack as it is when you sit down in front of a computer, or in front of your television.  The person that wagers maybe $50 to $100 a day at a racetrack will do two or three or even five times that much sitting in front of a computer when he’s got all the tools and all the accommodations, if you will, of the internet and of ADW.  And so we embrace that, and try to make that experience more like buying and selling stocks, if you will.  It’s more of a heavy player.  The kind of players we all like to have in our stadiums or in our ADWs.  
The heavy duty player.  The high usage player needs some accommodations, and gets them through ADW that he doesn’t get at the racetrack so we focus on customer service sorts of issues.

Our mobile strategy is another part of what we’re trying to do to improve the sport.  We’ve heard a lot of the tote companies today talk about hand-helds; about bringing the game to the customer sitting in his box.  Ultimately what we’re going to find is, that a customer has one account.  He accesses that account at home on the internet, on his telephone, and in the future when he goes to the racetrack he’ll have a card or some sort of ID or biometric operation that allows him to access that same account.  He will be able to move funds to and from that account at will regardless of where he is.  And the economics underneath that whole system  will allow this one account to be the major benefactor for globalization of horse racing.  I mean, there’s no reason in the world why a guy sitting in Singapore, or London, or Sidney shouldn’t be wagering in a common pool on a race from Del Mar, or Hollywood Park, or any other California track; it should be happening and will.  
But all of the things that we have been talking about today, including during the CHRB meeting, they’re going to have to all kind of get closer to the center, and we’re going to have to take a hard look at our business in terms of the customer.  It’s not the game because the game is solid.  We’ve got to really look at it for the customer.

In closing, the reason that the customer is the focus, if the customer is the guy saying, I don’t like betting six horse fields, that’s not a game problem, it’s a show problem.  And all of the things we’ve talked about improving that field size is really at the core of where all the other growth is going to be.  If Californians had the best purses in the country, if we had the best ADWs, and we had the best TV networks, then we’d have the best everything else too.  You know it all starts with the best show, if you will, as Jack so well put it.


So I’ll cut off all the rest of my comments and leave you for questions.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  All right.  Mr. Hindman.

TONY ALLEVATO:  It’s Mr. Hindman.  And this is actually Tony Allevato.  I’m the Senior Vice President, Executive Producer for TVG.  I run all the programming for our network.  And somebody knows exactly what TVG is.  TVG is a 24-hour horse racing network.  We’re dedicated completely to horse racing.  We’re like the golf channel of horse racing.  It’s probably the best way to describe us.  


We were launched in 1999, and currently we’re in 15 million homes.  And in addition to being a TV network that covers horse racing, we also take home wagering—ADW, via telephone, internet.  And most recently, we launched a platform that allows people to bet on horse racing through their television sets right with their remote control.  And I’ll show you what that looks like in just a moment.


TVG is the number one ADW provider in terms of handle in the state of California.  We account for 56 percent of the handle in California.  
The goal of TVG, well, one of our main goals is to help horse racing grow.  A lot of people talk about the cannibalization of horse racing, and horse racing being on TV, and what it’s effect is.  Obviously there is going to be some short-term cannibalization.  But our goal at TVG is not to figure out a way to get every fan to stay home and not got to the races.  Our goal is to help the sport grow.  Because we know as the sport grows, it’s going to help TVG grow.  And there has never been a sport that’s ever been hurt by horse racing.  
If you look over the years when they first decided they were going to put a camera in centerfield at baseball games to look over the pitcher’s shoulder, a lot of people argued that it would kill baseball because nobody would want to come to the game anymore because the camera was so good.  So we don’t think that that’s an issue.

The other thing is, that TVG is a 24-hour commercial for horse racing.  That’s what we do.  We promote racing and we try to drive people to the sport.  

We put together a really short tape that I want to show you guys, that gives an illustration of what we do for racing in California, and I hope you’ll enjoy it.

VIDEO

I have to thank that gentleman walking away.  That’s Aaron Haberman.  He’s our lead researcher.  He sat for here for three hours to push that play button.  

I’m just going to fly through these slides real quick, just to give you guys a couple of key stats.  
We televise over 4,300 races from California each year.  The important thing to mention is that we’re going out nationwide; we’re not just in California.  We’ve returned over $50 million to the California racing industry through 2004. 

The next bullet point is very important one in lieu of what we just talked about.  TVG employs over 150 employees in the state of California, and those are 150 jobs that were created by the launch of TVG.  So a lot is said about the promise for jobs coming to California.  At TVG we thought we’ve lived up to the bargain in terms of hiring people in California and creating jobs in the state.  That’s something that we have done.
TVG is available in 15 million homes nationwide.  You see some of our partners down at the bottom.  You heard Rick Baedeker talk about the fact that two hours a day we are live on Fox Sports Net 2, which puts us at an additional 5 million homes.  We’re really excited because yesterday was the first time ever we also simulcast our network on COX Channel 4, which is a local channel down here that simulcasts all of the San Diego Padres games.  We’re excited about that because the Padres are currently in first place.  That means good ratings.  A lot of new people getting the opportunity to watch horse racing for the first time, and hopefully get turned on to our sport.

2004 was a big year for TVG.  Our wagering was up 47 percent.  We increased our distribution by 1.4 million households.  And again, 56 percent of the market share.

Over all results, you can see our handles increased since 2001, from 
$45 million back then, to $303 million last year.  You see the amount of millions that we’ve returned to the state.  It’s projected that this year we will return over $33 million—that’s the projected number back to the state of California, but $50 million so far in the first three years.

Who is our competition?  Obviously from a television standpoint, you see them on the left.  And on the right, everybody has talked about this, so I won’t delve too deep into it.

And the last thing I wanted to talk about, we mentioned that TVG earlier this year launched a platform that allows people to wager away from home.  If you have the Dish Network, which is currently available in 8 million homes, closer to 9 million homes, across the country, and you have your phone line connected to your box, all you have to do is hit the red button on your remote control and this screen will come up.  You can pull up a race schedule; you can pull up odds; or you can hit the “bet now” button.  And when you hit the “bet now” button, it looks very similar to what you’d see at the racetrack, with the television product going in the upper right corner.  This is something that we feel is very, very important, moving forward for horse racing.  
We talk about how in the past racing has missed the boat in terms of embracing television and doing all these things, and horse racing is really playing catch up.  Interactive television is the wave of the future in television.  People will be able to buy things off of the Home Shopping Network from their remote control without even picking up a phone.  This is one of the few times that horse racing is actually on the cutting edge of something new, and it’s something we’re quite proud of.
So overall, we believe, obviously, that ADW has been a positive. We believe that TVG is a big supporter of horse racing.  And we’re an opportunity to help reach an entire new audience, and help the sport grow.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you very much.  Great presentation.  Okay, Mr. Elling.

DAVID ELLING:  David Elling.  Magna Entertainment Corporation, Group Controller for Expressbet and Horse Racing Television.  I’d like to thank you for inviting me to participate in this panel.  I have a few notes just from the discussion this afternoon that I’ll briefly go through.

Expressbet has been in business since 2002 and we continue to grow, especially in this state.  For 2005, Expressbet’s handle by California residents year to date is up 23 percent over last year.  As Mr. Cuoto pointed out earlier, this is the largest ADW market for the account wagering providers.

Magna Entertainment, as you know, owns two tracks here in California—Golden Gate and Santa Anita.  So as an ADW company, Expressbet’s concerned as to how our sister track are doing.

To this end, we do do marketing to help drive fans to the tracks, sending up vouchers to our current customers for admissions, parking, dining.  We’ve done a promotion at Golden Gate called “Friday Nights Alive” in which we encourage our customers to go to the track, make a deposit, and we’ll match that deposit up to a certain dollar amount.

As a company, Magna has created an event called “Sunshine Millions” which is a California versus Florida race card—bought time on NBC to promote this race card.  In addition, we’ve created a wager called “The Magna Five,” which had a guaranteed pool of $500,000, as opposed to the “Pick Six,” which takes three or four hours for the wagerer to know if they’ve won.  This wager was over within an hour.  The races were picked from two or three Magna tracks—Golden Gate and Santa Anita being two of the three tracks.  And horse racing television promoted this wager by having an hour program on Saturdays when this wager was being run.
It’s been said that ADW helps bring the horse racing experience to new fans.  I would say that in addition, it also increases current fans frequency, meaning that they’re wagering more; they’re churning their handle more.

One other thing you need to realize is, ADW has been the growth engine for the horse racing industry, and that it’s kept the overall horse racing industry from losing ground. 

I agree with Senator Soto, the biggest threat to the horse racing industry is the offshore bookmakers.  They’re able to offer rebates, and they’re not betting into the U.S. pools.  So we’re at a distinct disadvantage there.

Also I’d like to mention, I agree with Mr. True, international is an emerging market for all the ADW providers and for horse racing as a whole.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you very much.  Senator Soto, any questions?

SENATOR SOTO:  No, not right now.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gentlemen, thank you very much.  I appreciate your presentations.  Is there anyone else that has any public comment they would like to make?  Please come on up.

TERRY FANCHER:  My name is Terry Fancher.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you for joining us, Terry.  I was trying to make reference to the press release and here you are.  Great.  Thank you for joining us as well.  I very much appreciate it.

MR. FANCHER:  Sure.  It’s my pleasure.  And thank you very much for coming today.  I think everybody in this room is probably very pleased, as I am, that you’ve taken the time to be here and give all of us something to talk about today.  
I want to take just a moment, I know it’s late in the day and everybody would like to go home, I’d like to take just a moment though to really brainstorm a little about the issues that you’ve raised a number of times about what can we do; what can you do; what can we all do here?  Because that’s certainly an issue that I’ve thought about many times.

I can say, that we’re very pleased to have the chance to buy Hollywood Park.  But something that won’t make us happy at all will be if we end up being the people that closed Hollywood Park.  That would be a very tragic thing; not the place we want to be; and that’s why we we’ve been so open and outspoken and clear about the fact that we need help.  And the fact that you’re here today is a tremendous sign of a step forward.

I think if you look at the heads of the Racing Associations that sat here earlier today, and the union leaders, the horsemen and the other people, and if you imagine for a minute that the horse racing industry, the computer industry and have the heads of the five major computer companies in the state, and they were telling the story that you heard here about the fact that really what is the problem is that California has put itself at a competitive disadvantage to the other major states, and that we’re really on life support today and it’s going to get worse.  It’s going to get worse when states like Kentucky actually step up and do some of the things you’re hearing about, and when the effects of New York kicks in, and some of these other things.  I think if you imagine that all happening around the computer industry, it would be short order, very short order, before solutions were created, and they were passed, and they were adopted into law because no one would want to have that happen from the computer industry.  Nor do any of you or any of us want to have it happen in the horse racing industry, and the much broader related agribusiness industries.  So what can we do about it?
One of the ideas which you asked questions about that I think is a sound idea on your mind is, could there be a portion of the revenues associated with any ratified Indian compacts, that could be dedicated towards helping the racing industry?  And let me tell you, I’m quite sure that if there were a way to dedicate a portion of revenue to the racing industry from that or any other source, the revenues would be very well received.  I’m sure that the purses would be glad to get them, the revenues.  I’m sure the racing industry would be glad to get them and the union workers.

I personally have considerable skepticism with that approach.  And the reason I have skepticism is because in my estimation, but I’m not privy to same level of information you have so I could be wrong here, but in my estimation, so much of the Indian gaming is already in place in this state and so many of the compacts have already been enacted.  And so you actually have a relatively small number of compacts still coming before you.  And the amount of revenue that I think is realistic, the things that can be generated from the remaining compacts strikes me as likely to insufficient.  But I’d love those facts to be wrong.  I’d love those facts to be wrong.  And I merely mention that on my way to talk about the solution that’s been adopted in other states.

But I would like to say one other issue about all that, and that is, that the horse racing industry also doesn’t want to be perceived in any way adversarial to, or challenging, or difficult the Indian tribes in this state.  Many tribal governments here in the state have many, many years of very difficult things that they have gone through and they have been supported by the voters.  And far be it from us to be in any way adversarial to them.  We have a different idea and that is to be collaborative and cooperative.  So I’m also concerned, I guess is what I’m trying to say, we do not want our industry to be competitive to tribes with the states that it may put us in light that we really don’t want to be in; we don’t want to be their adversaries in any way.  I think that’s a great mistake for us.  So it’s not that we wouldn’t welcome the revenue—we absolutely would.  I’m simply not sure the source is large enough, or that the political realities of getting to it are optimal.

So having said that, I don’t know that what I….the alternative would be, and the reason you’re here today and we’re here, there are no easy solutions.  So let’s talk about the alternative that is apparent from the other discussions.  And that is, if you look across at the many, many other states that have solved this problem, the fact that they have solved it through….we’re in a double whammy by not solving it because we’re getting to the point of great concern.  It is some form of electronic gaming at racetracks, and what is the impediment of that?  What is the problem?
Well, the first problem is, that in the 1980s the voters of California adopted a constitutional amendment saying that there couldn’t be any casino style gaming in this state.  And as a result of that, without the voters statewide, you can’t really put gaming devices or electronic gaming devices into service.  At lest that’s our analysis.  We don’t know how it could be done without a vote across the state.

Of course many of you know, that many of the tribes got together and were successful originally since 1997, passing the first of the two initiatives.  I’m not sure which one was first, but one of them was passed that was not a constitutional amendment, it was just a statutory act that granted them the ability to have slot machines.  And that was struck down by the court, the supreme court in California, because it was only a statutory measure, it didn’t amend the constitution.  So then, I think in 1999 or so, came the other one that was a constitutional amendment.  
So what you have today, the tribes have a monopoly on slot machines.  Not, I think because the voters meant to consciously grant them the monopoly, but because the voters said we don’t want these devices in the state, and the voters granted an exception to the tribes for their locations, such as the compacts.  And that creates a problem.  The reality of the problem is, that we need to find a solution today that is not adversarial to the tribes; it is not something that they see as contrary to their interests.  Because we’re respectful of where they are.  We’re respectful of what they have achieved.  I don’t think when that was passed at the same time they meant to disadvantage our horse racing industry.  I don’t think they were thinking about it.  So where we are today is, how are we going to save this horse racing industry?  
My assessment is, that while I would love it if you can find a source of revenue that could be passed through the Legislature and approved by the Governor and not require something to go before the voters, because of all the great difficulty with passing a statewide initiative of any sort, I’m really not sure you can.  And so alternatively, what I think would be desirable is that there could be a collaborative effort.  An effort where the Legislature recognizes, the governor recognizes, the racing industry recognizes, we all recognize we need to find something; we need to craft a solution that can go before the voters and can pass.  And it needs to be a solution that is respectful and mindful of what the tribes have.  That’s one of the reasons, for example, I don’t talk in terms of slot machines.  Slot machines would be great.  That’s what they have.  And that’s why I speak in terms of video lottery terminals, where it’s an inferior form of technology to a slot machine, but frankly one that would be quite acceptable nonetheless.  It’s a solution that the state of New York adopted and many others, I think would be a great solution.  
We have the problem, as well, that the term urban gaming has grown up in the meantime in a way that is politically very charged.  Race tracks today are Hollywood Park, Santa Anita, Del Mar, Bay Meadows, and the other, Golden Gate Fields.  And we have facilities that can handle it.  We have facilities that can handle tens of thousands of clients and so on.  I mean, we need to find a way to bring something that’s going to win the approval of the voters that doesn’t fall against that charge as well.  We need something that can have the support of the Legislature, the governor, and the Tribes.  That’s what we need.  I hope you can help us find that solution.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  I very much appreciate that, Terry.  Is there any other public comment?  Okay.  
Before we close I want to thank Senator Soto for, as always, attending our hearings of the G.O. Committee and any other committee I think I’ve chaired since I’ve been in the Legislature with her.  

Let me say, this is a first of many informational hearings we want to have on the industry.  This can’t just be a hearing and then we disband and somehow we rehuddle again.  I’ve made a commitment, I think Senator Soto, that we want to have hearings solely focused on the intricacies of offshore rebators and offshore betting, particularly.  And we’ll do that at the Fairplex, Senator Soto, so you can walk there.  So we can make sure that we do that there.  So we’re going to need all of your help to help us prepare for that.
As well, I want to thank everyone who has helped us prepare for this.

But let me end by saying we started the hearing with a question, and that is, is horse racing in California alive and well and going to be there?  Obviously all of you have a sense of guarded optimism, and I very much appreciate that.

My past, before I got into the Legislature, and believe me there are actually people that have jobs before going into public service, was that of an investment banker.  And I can tell you that there are many deals that people never thought would come together.  And I can tell you that the only way I’ve seen any of those big deals come together is with a lot of leverage.  And we have one of those points now in California where we have to try to utilize that leverage to our best advantage.  In many cases to the best advantages of all of the industries involved, and that would include Indian gaming, horse racing, card clubs, you name it.  

I can also say that last year the governor, and it’s not to knock the governor because deals fall apart, but there was one billion dollars left on the table with only five tribes but for a few, not minor, but some major points of contention.  Those five tribes still have talked and have kept in contact with not only us, but the governor’s office that there is still an additional one billion dollars on the table.  Of the one billion, remember, that’s our 25 percent.  So, five percent of 25 percent of one billion, I think that might help the horsing industry a bit.  And I think if we start to think going forward what that annual annuity might be in terms of an economic recovery fund, that might be also additionally helpful.  But the only way it’s going to happen is that we have to build those into the discussions.  Those have to be part of, if you will, the not locking out of other industries, and we’re fully committed to do that.  I know I am.  And hopefully, you’ve given us at least a good solid foundation with this transcript to start to build upon.

Let me also say, that in terms of the adversarial actions of industries in terms of competition….you know, let me just put it to you this way, if the horse racing industry was giving the state 25 percent and we called you and said , Do you mind if we take 5 percent of the 25 percent that you’re giving us, we’re not asking you to give us anymore, to another industry that promises not to do things that you want to do? you might say, Well, as long as they don’t do it.  As long as there is some actual, some way to keep everyone at bay and keep everyone in a good place. That might be something worth talking about.  And simply put, that probably means you need to make a choice.  
And as I mentioned earlier throughout the hearing, I was trying to get all of you to get to that conclusion, is it slot machines you want in your particular facility; is it video?  That is one answer.  But the other answer is simply revenue.  There might be some meaningful discussions given that you would forgo some of those types of devices in order to have that annuity come in and people would be somewhat at peace.  That is the point of discussion we’re going to have to continue to have with many of our tribes and card clubs, quite frankly.
Let me also say lastly, that the issues that your industry presents is one that we all care about in the state because of jobs.  And I can only tell you, coming from the Central Valley, we grow a lot of the stuff that kind of comes into this place, and I know from Senator Soto’s perspective of having a major venue, that’s important as well.  And I can definitely tell you, that you have very, very good friends in the governor’s office, and I think there’s an issue of trying to pull of that synergy together to try to make that happen. 

Now if we’re going to sign all the compacts and we’re going to be done with them, then we’re going to miss the boat.  And it’s going to be….we’re going to be sitting there talking about cutting around the edges, tax breaks, sales tax breaks, various modes of operation.  I don’t think that is going to get us where we need to get.  Our only opportunity is to recognize that the governor’s job is to negotiate and the Legislature’s job is to ratify compacts.  That is what brings us to the table to get this discussion going.  

And so Senator Soto, I look forward to sitting with you and trying to have those fruitful discussions.  And I think, as Terry has mentioned, collaborative discussions, in a way that doesn’t put your industry to any harm.  It simply says that maybe the Chair and members of the G.O. Committee want to have these discussions and we want to have them for the good of all of the industries, and that needs to occur.

And I want to thank everyone here again, for allowing us to build the record.  Because I am the new chairman, this is important for me.  I know Senator Soto has been on the committee for a while.  But these transcripts are extremely important to our work going forward.

Senator Soto, do you want to go ahead and close?

SENATOR SOTO:  Well like you, I just want to thank people for being here and helping us to find out what your desires are.  And, what we can do to help you.

And I think some of the people that have offered to help us, will be taken up on that offer.  I hope so.  We can generate some meetings so that we can continue to look towards improving this situation, and hoping we can make things better for everybody.
Thank you very much.  Thank you, Senator Florez.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We’ll adjourn.  Thank you.
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